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Il Our Shareholders

While achieved significant growth in res enue and proiItahility in 2011 it is clear that our earning

leverage is still ss eli short of what we can achies as filly implement our new cultural and strategic

direction this was ear of solid confirmation that we are doing the right things to both acc lerate

growth in our top line and efficientir take more of our revenue to the bottom line We expect that the

action we have underwa to enhaiw global teamw uk significantly improse project execution and

eliminate fragmentation of our service tine activities will begin to pos tis dr impart our performance

in 2012

In 20 Il we mmcd beyond the turnaround phase of transforming urmanite building on our

remarkable capabilities and
positioning the compan\ to meet the challenges of grow th and world

leadership 16 million cost reduction achies ed in 2009 10 was just the first step in the pi ocess

Our challenge now is to expand our extensix range of specialty industrial services throughout our

worldwide fbotpriiit of 78 seas ice delivery centers across six continents Our new service line units

wilt lead the impros ement of our technology technician skills responsiveness quality and efficienz

to realize ours ision of establishing Furmanite as the world leader in each of our sm rs ice lines hr 201

During 2010 11 we embedded new companr culture based on our Olange ode ol Values lo ensure

that we us and implement those salues in 2012 and beyond we are eliminatingthe walls that rest icted

the teainssork necessar to maximize leverage ofour capabilities and resources the Orange Wy as

we call it is new global organizational concept focused on working as single orldss ide eani with

our priorities aligned and conipensat ion systems tied to our companr financial goals

As ou read in our Mission and sion we have high expectations for oursets es industry

leadership or1dclass solutions perfect sers ices and product know these goals are essential

to oua success and we are absolutefi committed to achies
ang

them

In 2011 we continued significant growth in both our top and bottom la es But that is only beginning

to the gross th and new opportunities for shareholder va ue creation we expect to result from our

intentional fasCmoving and companywide transformation

Charles ox
Chairman oft/ic Board and

hiefLxecutive Officer

\iaich 28 2012



Sine 1921 ith its patent for On line Leak

Sealing nrrnai ite li giuwn thruugh the

deselopnient ol nen techniques and pro esses

and by uo ldu ide expansion to become the

ret ognized leader in pros idng technology

prodnct and service solutions to ndustnal

clients around the globe finoughout its

year instort 1urniuiute has helped companies

aclu ye maxiriiuni proer ss effick ncy and

asset inanagenient

urmanit holds more than 120 tr idemarks

and patents
br its ciii niques products and

niateri il md .ont nues to update existing

patents
and develop nem tec hnobogies to

meet the growing deniands of its customers

hi cornpan\ ccliii icians receive extensive

on goino classroom and field training and

supem vision arc provided comprehensive

ti clinic ml support system through staff

of specia1ists and operate under strict safety and conipeteimc requirements and staudardiied

pm icedimres Our team ol technicians and specialists arc continuously evaluating new matet mals and

tech niques enhance the company services

\ow as it enters new ers tux niarmite is on the mm to drive even higher 1ev els of excelleni in the

en ices and products we deliver to our customers



urrnanite is expanding its leadership in industria sers ices through inno ation global teamwork

market dominance project excellence arid custo ner ser ice perfection Our commitment to

One urmnanite global culture is embodied in The Orange Code that defines ow shared alues

and expected beha mor to our customers

and oursel\ es Our mission is to safels

and cost effectrs el\ pros ide xs orid class

solutions for the full range of each

customers unique local needs from

routine to the most challenging and to

make Furmarute the trusted global provider

of ers specialt\ sers ice offer

Our ssorldwide organization focusing on

global service line teams ensures that sshen

our customers hase need they receive the

best of the best in expertise technoIog

responsiseness effectiseness and efficiency Our business encompasses O\Cl 70 installations on six

continents ith more than 600 highly qualified technicians in the Americas ncails 500 in Irope

the Middle Last frica and more Iran 150 in the sia Pr cific region

lurmanile is able to le
eragc its 85 sears as the recognized technology ader and its global footpruit

ss itli multiple service lines to pros ice scope of scm ices inrivak any here We are acknon ledged

as the fastest responder to emergenc\ situations our record for safety is exemplary we deliver

quality cutting edge technology solutions to solve problems and design and manufacture

unique specialty quipment to our ustomers specificat ons

913 company history by Forsyth descr be the estabhshm nt Firm irrire begins to offer Undo

oft U.K rm which was quidated md rcforned as urmarite Pnessur Leak Seal ng Services

ngineennrrg Company mited in 1929 mov ng from ci
rig Leak the UK it ncr than leak ca rig

Sea
rig

Kits to
creating

leak scahng service company nIh ts Kits and oroducts

enge ems and technicians II U.l npar reunitcs rh the US

compar and estabhshes operations vi uropc and Aust aha he U.K

company relo ares to Kendal where Is Fr adqu titers arc today

Fory attn is consultant dvises Furman Ic to move into

providing leak ali ng ar other anc ill

iry
servKes which led to the

modern day Furnranitc iebl 03 repairs at ft gf or pressure

ternpcratunes and ic rtnfyng romp ementa technoloqws so has

on site ira hning arid con roll bo flog vilach cv rand the

cirnpa iys service offer nj



ut manite is the only global company

hiring comprehensive ranee of seiices an

vperieneed Lghly trained core of te hnicians

id rum en abilit to deliver safe quality

stale of the art industrial sers ices anywhere

in the world

Out ustomei base includes petroleum

refineries chemical plants mining operations

fshote energ production platforms subsea

ping systems steel nulls nuclear and

cons entional pmser stations pulp id paper

mills food and be ci age proc essing plants

id othe floss process facilities in more than

countries

Primary Service Lines

Leak aling leseloper of the first on line leak sealing services Furmarute engineers and

niamrfacturws ompcunds for repairing steam licfrocarhons gas air chemicals and liquids fo

leaks front temperatures ranging from 160001 to cryogenic and for sub sea applications

Heat ireating State of the art Furmanite trademuked teehuolog isitli tefliperature control

capabilities horn ambient to 100f reclucmg manpower needs providing reliable recotd keeping

rid incrc asing accuracy

nofactor
iq

fooities wcre mt rblishecl 1-urmarrite expcrienccd significant
urmanitc was acqcsred by Kanc

itnilarn to prodocc mos and leak seahrsg cxparrsiorr by adding mechanic-s Scrvi us Inc rr March 199

eq sip
er ni Sill inginccnng originaty engineering services wth on tc Kanub lator bcrame Xar ser

sprcrah ed motor ycle nanufactuu if machining bolting
and evitest Corporation

transitic rred nto dcvgn manufacturer In addition AU based

sf etc macsm ng quiprrrcrr was acqcsrcd spec ialized valvc
nepai co rrpany

was acquired

oyc Hsinswonth history of thc Ec manite tJ.K

stated the company had 300 technicians

throcighout the world Shc cited thc firnrs success

as never to .ompromise on the high quality of the

service and rngineerirsg sf ill offered to th

customer mandate true today



hot tipping Using urinaniles OEM IPS ft Equipment services can be performed for

line tieins access points and insertion of probes or meters ithout the need to shut down

plant operations

Line Stops Pipeline Plugging ihese ser\ ices

help prevent unwanted sh itt downs and keep

critical iing and pipeline stems online

during tie ins relocations repairs etrofits

and routine maintenance

Line lsolatio Hydrostatic lesting urmamte

provides the salcst ools on the rnaikct to isolate

upstream gases or vapors while elcling repairs

are made Our teclulologY alloss for one tool

to serve as an isolation des ice and localied

rostatic eid tester Our proprietars 0.1

Noiile fester enables Furmanite to test notile

additions and rnanwar externaliy in safe

and costefficient manner with minimal is ater

mitigating the clients burden of disposal costs

Self es cling Machines lhe acquisition of Self

Les cling Machines Pt td and Self has cling

Machines Inc of ustralia arid Houston in 2011 brought urmanite machining capabilities

to is hole ness level through our SI line of sers ices we are able to build ecialijed modular

equipment that can be made to fit through confined spaces and erected in place on the jot site

Once assembled the technologs delivers laser guided machining operations up to 130 feet in

diameter to precision tolerances

urminite exp1nded its global site ma hning capab lrtres wttlr the acqcssroorr of Self Levclrr

Mach ner Pty Lid and Self Leve tog hrnes nc coiectively SLM based Melbourne strO

and Houston Fexas SLM sate ognized world leader
ir large scale on etc machtmng wrt riSe

capabrlrty to perform up to 00 foot plus drameter cuts at machint shop accuracy through

patented Self xveling Fe hnology urma ste St provrdes errgrrr
crir rbncat on rid cxc utron

of
high specra

ized macf
rring

solutions for
largr scale equrpme it or operat ons worldwi

furmar te announces plans to relocate its coporate hesdquartcrc to Houston Texas 20F

Fur rnanrte acqorred tf Generil Servtces Group GSG of F-lowS eve

Corporat on GSG provrded nraintenancc pa rind stnbut on

se vIces for oad array of valves ng systems md othr

process system comoonents as vel as srjn ft ant presence

hot tapp ng an held nachintng Ire icqu sri on tlrgned wcll

with F-crrmanrtes core competencies allosv ng rma tic to

expand its footprrnr iso serves
orrerings arocrrro mc vorlo

Xansc Corporation iNYSE.XNR

chang tire
corrrp mys name

to F-crrrna mite Corporattorr rid

tfre co npany slrures were

traded ott the New York Stock

fxcfrarrge under tIre ii

sirxrbol tErM

crrrnanrt stock

NYSE PM as

uric of the test

perform rig
stocks

tr is xc tot for

tlr
year



OmSite Machiiiing As an 01 Vi of the SILK brand of field machining eqwprnent and ast service

net or1 that spans th globe urmanite an bring workshop like tolerances to the field and provide

any pe of metal removal drilling boring cutting and virtualll any other specialty machining

opet ion in stu

Frcvtest patented Furmanite diagnostic recorder that allows testing of pressure rehef \alvc

under normal operating ondilions measuring pressure lift or displacement and sound ua

oustc detection

Valve Repair Possessing both shop end field capabilities and boasting more ertificates of

uihorization than any other compa iy lurmanite is the largest non-OEM single-owned valse

repair company in the ssorld Furman ite also manufactures assemble and distributes vahes for

sonic of the leading valve companies

Boltmg omplete bolt torquing and tensioning services utiliiing

Furman it devekipecl Pressur wed System Integrit\ Management

PSIM technolog1

oinposite Rcpair immediate and permanent repair us ng

fiber glass and carbon fiber wraps with no interruption to

plamt operations

Other Ser% ire Provided by Furmanite

orrosion Management Polyi and oncrete Repair

Fngmni ci ing Smart Shim

et Cutting

pai of lurmnaniles goal to be the world leader in all of our ser ice lines is relocating our

headquaiters to houston lecas whicl is scheduled to be completed in the summer of2012 llouston

is global center for the industries we serve and will Put us close to our customers and to large

concentration of the industi ial facilities ia serve lie move also allows us to bring our senior

nmanagemuent earn together impro\ lug efficiencies comm ti nications and innovation synergies

FURMANITa
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington D.C 20549

FORM 10-K

Mark One
l1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act Yes No 1l

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of
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shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this chapter is not contained herein

and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of

this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K IZI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting company
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Non-accelerated filer Do not check if smaller reporting company Smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No ll
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closing price of the registrants common stock $7.94 per share reported on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30 2011

There were 37202575 shares of the registrant common stock outstanding as of March 2012

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrants Proxy Statement to be furnished to stockholders in connection with its 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are

incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Report
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K this Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of sections 27A of the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended and 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act All

statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Report including but not limited to statements regarding the

Companys future financial position business strategy budgets projected costs savings and plans and objectives of management for

future operations are forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-

looking terminology such as may will expect intend estimate anticipate believe or continue or the negative

thereof or variations thereon or similar terminology The Company bases its forward-looking statements on reasonable beliefs and

assumptions current expectations estimates and projections about itself and its industry The Company cautions that these statements

are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that cannot be predicted In addition the Company
based many of these forward-looking statements on assumptions about future events that may prove to be inaccurate and actual results

may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements One is cautioned not to place undue reliance

on such statements which speak only as of the date of this Report Unless otherwise required by law the Company undertakes no

obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or

circumstances or otherwise



PART

Item Business

Company Overview

Furmanite Corporation the Parent Company together with its subsidiaries collectively the Company or Furmanite provides

specialized technical services including on-line services formerly referred to as under pressure services such as leak sealing hot

tapping line stopping line isolation composite repair and valve testing In addition the Company provides off-line services formerly

referred to as turnaround services including on-site machining heat treatment bolting and valve repair and other services

including smart shim service concrete repair engineering services and valve and other products and manufacturing These products

and services are provided primarily to electric power generating plants petroleum industry which includes refineries and off-shore

drilling rigs including subsea chemical plants and other process industries in the Americas which includes operations in North

America South America and Latin America EMEA which includes operations in Europe the Middle East and Africa and Asia-

Pacific through wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company Furmanite Worldwide Inc FWI and its domestic and

international subsidiaries and affiliates

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on January 23 1953 The Companys principal operating office is currently located at

2435 North Central Expressway Suite 700 Richardson Texas 75080 and its telephone number is 972 699-4000 The Companys

principal office will move to Houston Texas by the end of March 2012 and will be located at 10370 Richmond Avenue Suite 600

Houston Texas 77042

The Company files annual quarterly and other reports and information with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC under

the Exchange Act These reports and other information that the Company files with the SEC may be obtained on the SEC website at

www sec.gov

The Company also makes available free of charge on or through the Internet website www.furmanite.com select the Financial

Information link under the Investors menu option Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current

Reports on Form 8-K and other information statements and if applicable amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a or of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with or

furnished to the SEC Also available on the Companys website free of charge are copies of the Companys Audit Committee Charter

Compensation Committee Charter Nominating and Governance Committee Charter Code of Ethics Corporate Governance

Guidelines and Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy The Code of Ethics applies to all of the Companys officers employees and

directors including the principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer copy of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K will be provided free of charge upon written request to Investor Relations at the Companys address Information

contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be

considered part of this report or any other filing with the SEC

On May 17 2007 Xanser Corporation changed its name to Furmanite Corporation after the Companys stockholders ratified the name

change at its annual stockholder meeting The Companys common stock no par value began trading under the ticker symbol FRM
effective May 18 2007 superseding the previous ticker symbol XNR on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE The Companys

website also changed from www.xanser.com to www.furmanite.com

Business Segment Data and Geographical Information

See Note 14 under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Operations

Furmanites business is specialized technical services that are provided to an international base of customers Furmanite operations

were founded in Virginia Beach Virginia in the 1920s as manufacturer of leak sealing kits In the 1960s Furmanite expanded within

the United Kingdom U.K primarily through its leak sealing products and then into providing services During the 1970s and

1980s Furmanite grew through geographic expansion and the addition of new techniques processes and services to become one of the

largest industrial services companies performing leak sealing and on-site machining in the world The Parent Company acquired

Furmanite in 1991 to diversify its operations and pursue international growth opportunities In 2005 the Company through an asset

acquisition expanded its valve repair and hot-tapping services along with expanding its location footprint in the United States and

heat treating services were introduced in 2006 In 2007 Furmanite expanded its operating presence into Bahrain and mainland China

and in 2008 offices in Canada and West Africa were opened to take advantage of existing customer relationships in the area and

launch the full range of service lines to existing customers and other markets In 2010 Furmanite continued to expand its operating

presence in Europe to include offices in both Denmark and Sweden In 2011 Furmanite expanded its onsite machining service

capabilities with an asset acquisition to provide for large scale onsite machining



Products and Services

Furmanite provides on-line repairs of leaks leak sealing in valves pipes and other components of piping systems and related

equipment typically used in flow-process industries see Customers and Markets below Other on-line services provided include

hot tapping line stopping line isolation new service line introduced in 2010 composite repair and valve testing In addition the

Company provides off-line services including on-site machining bolting valve repair heat treating and repair on such systems and

equipment These services tend to complement leak sealing and other on-line services since these off-line services are usually

performed while plant or piping system is not operating In addition Furmanite provides concrete repair engineering services valve

and other products and manufacturing Furmanite also performs diagnostic services on valves by among other methods utilizing its

patented Trevitest system In performing these services technicians generally work at the customers location frequently responding

on an emergency basis Over its history Furmanite has established reputation for delivering quality service and helping its customers

avoid or delay costly plant or equipment shutdowns For each of the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 on-line services

represented approximately 39% 37% and 36% respectively of total revenues while off-line services accounted for approximately

44% 46% and 46% respectively of total revenue and other industrial services represented approximately 17% 17% and 18%

respectively of total revenues

Furmanites on-line leak sealing services are performed on variety of flow-process industry machinery often in difficult situations

Many of the techniques and materials are proprietary and some are patented Furmanite believes these techniques and materials

provide Furmanite with competitive advantage over other organizations that provide similar services The Company holds over 120

trademarks and patents for its techniques products and materials and continues to develop new and update existing patents as it

considers these efforts to be essential to its operations The patents which are registered in jurisdictions around the world expire at

various dates through December 2023 The skilled technicians work with equipment in manner designed to enhance safety and

efficiency in temperature environments ranging from cryogenic to 2400 degrees Fahrenheit and pressure environments ranging from

vacuum to 5000 pounds per square inch In many circumstances employees are called upon to custom-design tools equipment or

other materials to achieve the necessary repairs These efforts are supported by an internal quality control group as well as an

engineering group and manufacturing group that work with the on-site technicians in crafting these materials tools and equipment

Customers and Markets

Furmanites customer base includes petroleum refineries chemical plants mining operations offshore
energy production platforms

subsea piping systems steel mills nuclear power stations conventional power stations pulp and paper mills food and beverage

processing plants and other flow-process facilities in more than 50 countries Most of the revenues are derived from fossil and nuclear

fuel power generation companies petroleum refiners and chemical producers Other significant markets include offshore oil

producers mining operations and steel manufacturers As the worldwide industrial infrastructure continues to age additional repair

and maintenance expenditures are expected to be required for the specialized services provided by Furmanite Other factors that may
influence the markets served by Furmanite include regulations governing construction of industrial plants and safety and

environmental compliance requirements and the worldwide economic climate No single customer accounted for more than 10% of

the Companys consolidated revenues during any of the past three fiscal years

Furmanite believes that it is the most recognized brand in its industry With an over 85-year history Furmanites customer

relationships are long-term and worldwide All customers will be served from the worldwide headquarters in Houston Texas and the

Company has substantial presence in EMEA and Asia-Pacific Furmanite currently operates over 25 offices in the United States

U.S including Saraland Alabama Benicia California Torrance California Lombard Illinois Hobart Indiana Geismat

Louisiana Sulphur Louisiana Paulsboro New Jersey Charlotte North Carolina Muskogee Oklahoma Pittsburgh Pennsylvania

Houston Texas La Porte Texas Salt Lake City Utah and Kent Washington The worldwide operations are further supported by

offices currently located in countries on six continents in Australia Azerbaijan Bahrain Belgium Canada China Denmark France

Germany Malaysia The Netherlands New Zealand Nigeria Norway Singapore Sweden and the U.K and by licensee and agency

arrangements which are based in Argentina Brazil Egypt Hungary Italy Japan Lithuania Mexico Peru Puerto Rico Romania

Russia South Africa Thailand Trinidad Turkey and the United Arab Emirates Revenues by major geographic region for 2011 were

50% for the Americas 38% for EMEA and 12% for Asia-Pacific See Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations and Note 14 under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form

10-K for additional information

Furmanites leak sealing on-line and other specialty field services are marketed primarily through direct sales calls on customers by

salesmen and technicians based at the various operating locations which are situated to facilitate timely customer response 24 hours

day and seven days week Customers are usually billed on time and materials basis for services typically performed pursuant to

either job quotation sheets or purchase orders issued under written customer agreements Furmanite has select master service customer

agreements which can provide coverage for multiple years and selected services with defined rates from which orders are then

released with defined scopes of work Other customer arrangements are generally short-term in duration and specify the range of and

rates for the services to be performed Furmanite typically provides various limited warranties depending upon the services

furnished and has had no material warranty costs during any of the years ended December 31 2011 2010 or 2009 Furmanite



generally competes on the basis of service product performance technical know-how engineering solutions and price on localized

basis with smaller companies and the in-house maintenance departments of its customers or potential customers Furmanite believes it

currently has an advantage over in-house maintenance departments because of the ability of its multi-disciplined technicians to use

proprietary and patented techniques to perform quality repairs on timely basis while customer equipment remains in service

Safety Environmental and Other Regulatory Matters

Many aspects of Furmanites operations are subject to governmental regulation Federal state and local authorities of the U.S and

various foreign countries have each adopted safety environmental and other regulations relating to the use of certain methods

practices and materials in connection with the performance of Furmanites services and operations Further because of the

international operations Furmanite is subject to number of political and economic risks including taxation policies labor practices

currency exchange rate fluctuations foreign exchange restrictions local political conditions import and export limitations and

expropriation of equipment Except in certain developing countries where payment in specified currency is required by contract

services are paid and operations are typically funded in the currency of the particular country in which the business activities are

conducted

Furmanites services are often performed in emergency situations under circumstances involving exposure to high temperatures and

pressures potential contact with caustic or toxic materials fire and explosion hazards and environmental contamination any of which

can cause serious personal injury or property damage Furmanite manages its operating risks by providing its technicians with

extensive on-going classroom and field training and supervision maintaining technical support system through its staff of

specialists establishing and enforcing strict safety and competency requirements standardizing procedures and evaluating new

materials and techniques for use in connection with the lines of service Furmanite also maintains insurance coverage
for certain risks

although there is no assurance that insurance coverage will continue to be available at rates considered reasonable or that the insurance

will be adequate to protect Furmanite against liability or loss of revenues resulting from the consequences of significant accident

Furmanite is subject to federal state and local laws and regulations in the U.S and various foreign locations relating to protection of

the environment Although the Company believes its operations are in compliance with applicable environmental regulations there

can be no assurance that environmental costs and liabilities will not be incurred by the Company Moreover it is possible that other

developments such as increasingly stringent environmental laws regulations and enforcement policies thereunder and claims for

damages to property or persons resulting from operations of the Company could result in environmental costs and liabilities to the

Company The Company has recorded in other liabilities an undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities related to the

remediation of site contamination for properties in the U.S in the amount of $1.0 million and $1.2 million as of December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively While there is reasonable possibility due to the inherent nature of environmental liabilities that loss

exceeding amounts already recognized could occur the Company does not believe such amounts are material to its financial

statements

Employees

At December 31 2011 the Company had 1529 employees exclusive of temporary technicians As of December 31 2011

approximately 357 employees were subject to representation by unions or other similar associations for collective bargaining or other

similar purposes including 161 employees in the U.K who are subject to collective bargaining contract The Company considers

relations with its employees to be good

Item IA Risk Factors

In evaluating the Company the factors described below should be carefully considered The occurrence of one or more of these events

could materially and adversely affect the Companys business prospects financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Weakness in the industries Furmanite serves could adversely affect demand for our services

substantial portion of the business depends upon the levels of capital investment and maintenance expenditures in the refining and

chemical industries as well as the power generation and other process
industries The levels of capital and maintenance expenditures

by Furmanites customers are affected by general economic conditions conditions in their industries and their liquidity as well as

cyclical downturns in these industries and fluctuations in oil prices Continued weaknesses in the sectors served by Furmanite could

adversely affect the demand for Furmanites services



Political economic or other conditions in foreign countries in which Furmanite operates could adversely affect the financial

condition results of operations or cash flow of the Company

Operations in foreign jurisdictions accounted for approximately 52% of total revenues for the year ended December 2011 The

Company expects foreign operations to continue to be an important part of its business Foreign operations are subject to variety of

risks such as

risks of economic instability

potential adverse changes in taxation policies

disruptions from labor and political disturbances

adverse changes in tariffs or import or export restrictions

war or insurrections and

other adverse changes in the laws or regulations of the host country

In addition the Company is subject to the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act FCPA which generally prohibits U.S companies

and their intermediaries from making improper payments to foreign officials for the
purpose

of obtaining or keeping business

Although the Company takes reasonable measures to comply with the FCPA and to ensure that its employees agents and

intermediaries comply with the FCPA it cannot assure that such precautions will protect it against liability under the FCPA

particularly as result of actions taken in the past or which may be taken in the future for which the Company may have exposure

under the FCPA If the Company is not in compliance with such laws and regulations it may be subject to criminal and civil penalties

which may cause harm to its reputation and to its brand names and could have an adverse effect on its business financial condition

operating results or cash flows

The Company may be adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and foreign exchange restrictions

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies which represent significant portion of total revenues and certain

costs assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the U.S dollar The primary foreign currencies of the Company

are the Euro British pound and Australian dollar Overall volatility in currency exchange rates has increased over the past several

years For the year ended December 31 2011 foreign currency based revenues and operating income were 165.1 million and 16.2

million respectively Based on results of operations for the
year

ended December 31 2011 the Company estimates that ten percent

fluctuation of all applicable foreign currencies would result in an annual change in revenues and operating income of $15.0 million

and $1.5 million respectively

The competitive position of Furmanite depends in part on the ability to protect its intellectual property

The competitive position of Furmanite depends in part upon techniques and materials that are proprietary and in some cases patented

The Company holds over 120 trademarks and patents for its techniques materials and equipment These patents are registered around

the world and expire at various dates through December 2023 Although Furmanite believes it has taken appropriate steps to protect

the intellectual property from misappropriation effective protection may be unavailable or limited in some of the foreign countries In

addition adequate remedies may not be available in the event of an unauthorized use or disclosure of trade secrets and proprietary

techniques

Furmanite products and services are offered in highly competitive markets which limits the profit margins and the ability to

increase market share

The markets for Furmanites products and services are highly competitive Furmanite competes against large and well established

national and international companies as well as regional and local companies Furmanite also competes with the in-house maintenance

departments of customers or potential customers Competition is based on service performance and price If Furmanite does not

compete successfully the business and results of operations could be adversely affected

If the Company loses any key personnel the ability to manage the business and continue the growth of the Company could be

negatively impacted

The Companys success is highly dependent on the efforts of its executive officers and key employees If any of the Companys key

employees leave its business may suffer The growth of the Companys business is also largely dependent upon its ability to attract

and retain qualified personnel in all areas of its business including management If the Company is unable to attract and retain such

qualified personnel it may be forced to limit growth and its business and operating results could suffer Organizational changes

within the Company could also impact its ability to retain personnel



The Company is exposed to customer credit risks

The Company is subject to risks of loss resulting from delinquent payment nonpayment or nonperformance or other obligations by its

customers If key customers default on their obligations the financial results of the Company could be adversely affected

Furthermore some of the Companys customers may be highly leveraged and subject to their own operating and regulatory risks

which may also limit their ability to pay or perform

Changes in the general economy affrcting availability of credit may negatively impact the Companys business

The Companys results of operations could be adversely affected during periods of economic downturn and the timing and extent of

such decline in the global or regional economies in which the Company operates cannot be predicted Lower levels of liquidity and

capital adequacy affecting lenders increases in defaults and bankruptcies by customers and suppliers and volatility in credit and

equity markets could negatively affect the Companys business operating results cash flows or financial condition in number of

ways including reductions in revenues and profits increased bad debts and financial instability of suppliers and insurers

Furthermore it may be more difficult or costly to access or obtain in the future working capital or acquisition opportunity financing

Climate change legislation or regulations restricting emissions of greenhouse gases could result in reduced demand for the

Companys services and products

The adoption and implementation of any regulations which impose limiting emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases

from customers for whom the Company provides repair and maintenance services could adversely affect demand for the Companys

products and services Furthermore some scientists have concluded that increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases in the Earths

atmosphere may produce climate changes that have significant physical effects such as increased frequency and severity of storms

droughts and floods and other climatic events if any such effects were to occur in regions where the Company operates it could have

an adverse effect on the Companys assets and operations Moreover it is possible that other developments such as increasingly

stringent environmental laws regulations and enforcement policies thereunder and claims for damages to property or persons

resulting from operations of the Company could result in costs and liabilities to the Company

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

The properties owned or utilized by the Company are generally described in Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note

under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K Additional information

concerning the obligations of the Company for lease and rental commitments is presented under the caption Commitments and

Contingencies in Note 13 under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data on the Annual Report on Form 10-K and

under the caption Contractual Obligations under Item Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations Such descriptions and information are hereby incorporated by reference into this Item

The Parent Companys corporate headquarters is currently located in an office building in Richardson Texas pursuant to lease

agreement that expires June 30 2012 and requires monthly lease payments of approximately $40000 plus certain operating expenses

By the end of March 2012 the Parent Companys corporate headquarters will relocate to an office building in Houston Texas

pursuant to lease agreement that expires in May 2019 which will require monthly lease payments of approximately $30000 plus

certain operating expense with annual increases ratably up to approximately $35000 plus certain operating expenses by 2019 and

provides for one five-year renewal period Functions performed in the corporate headquarters include overall corporate management

planning and strategy corporate finance investor relations accounting tax treasury information technology legal and human

resources support functions The facilities used in the operations of the Companys subsidiaries are generally held under lease

agreements having various expiration dates rental rates and other terms except for four properties located in the U.K and six

properties located in the U.S which are company-owned

Item Legal Proceedings

The operations of the Company are subject to federal state and local laws and regulations in the U.S and various foreign locations

relating to protection of the environment Although the Company believes its operations are in compliance with applicable

environmental regulations there can be no assurance that costs and liabilities will not be incurred by the Company The Company has

recorded in other liabilities an undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities related to the remediation of site contamination for

properties in the U.S in the amount of $1.0 million and $1.2 million as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively While there is

reasonable possibility due to the inherent nature of environmental liabilities that loss exceeding amounts already recognized could

occur the Company does not believe such amounts are material to its financial statements



On September 19 2011 John Daugherty filed derivative shareholder petition in the County Court at Law No Dallas County

Texas on behalf of the Company against certain of the Companys directors and executive officers and naming the Company as

nominal party The petition alleges the named directors and officers breached their fiduciary responsibilities in regard to certain

internal control matters The petitioner requests that the defendants pay unspecified damages to the Company On October 31 2011

the defendants filed their answer in the lawsuit as well as motions to dismiss it The defendants have informed the Company that they

believe this lawsuit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit

Furmanite America Inc subsidiary of the Company is involved in disputes with customer ThTEOS USA LLC who is negotiating

with governmental regulatory agency and claims that the subsidiary failed to provide them with satisfactory services at the

customers facilities On April 17 2009 the customer initiated legal action against the subsidiary in the Common Pleas Court of Allen

County Ohio alleging that the subsidiary and one of its former employees who performed data services at one of the customers

facilities breached its contract with the customer and failed to provide the customer with adequate and timely information to support

the subsidiarys work at the customers facility from 1998 through the second quarter of 2005 The customers complaint seeks

damages in an amount that the subsidiary believes represents the total proposed civil penalty plus the cost of unspecified

supplemental environmental projects requested by the regulatory agency to reduce air emissions at the customers facility and also

seeks unspecified punitive damages The subsidiary believes that it provided the customer with adequate and timely information to

support the subsidiarys work at the customers facilities and will vigorously defend against the customers claim

In the first quarter of 2008 subsidiary of the Company filed an action seeking to vacate $1.35 million arbitration award related to

sales brokerage agreement associated with business that the subsidiary sold in 2005 The subsidiary believed that the sales broker

was an affiliate of another company that in 2006 settled all of its claims as well as all of the claims of its affiliates against the

subsidiary The action to vacate the arbitration award terminated and in January 2010 the subsidiary paid the full amount of the

arbitration award plus accrued interest to the sales broker which was accrued as of December 31 2009 In separate actions the

subsidiary was seeking to enforce the prior settlement agreement executed by the sales brokers affiliate and obtain an equitable offset

of the arbitration award however upon mutual agreement by all parties these separate actions were dismissed by the court in July

2010

The Company has contingent liabilities resulting from litigation claims and commitments incident to the ordinary course of business

Management believes after consulting with counsel that the ultimate resolution of such contingencies will not have material adverse

effect on the financial position results of operations or liquidity of the Company

While the Company cannot make an assessment of the eventual outcome of all of these matters or determine the extent if any of any

potential uninsured liability or damage reserves of $1.3 million and $1.9 million which include the Furmanite America Inc

litigation were recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively While there

is reasonable possibility that loss exceeding amounts already recognized could occur the Company does not believe such amounts

are material to its financial statements



PART II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Companys common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol FRM

The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices per share of the Companys common stock as reported on the

NYSE for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31 High Low

2011

First Quarter 8.08 6.38

Second Quarter 8.60 6.24

Third Quarter 8.30 4.77

Fourth Quarter 7.43 5.02

2010

First Quarter 5.28 3.07

Second Quarter 5.50 3.80

Third Quarter 4.94 3.55

Fourth Quarter 7.45 4.78

At March 2012 there were approximately 2125 stockholders of record

The Company currently intends to retain future earnings for the development of its business and does not anticipate paying cash

dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future The Companys dividend policy is reviewed periodically and determined by

its Board of Directors on the basis of various factors including but not limited to its results of operations financial condition capital

requirements and investment opportunities Additionally the credit facility for the working capital of FWI contains restrictions on its

ability to pay dividends or distributions to the Company At December 31 2011 FWI was in compliance with all applicable debt

covenants under its credit facility
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data in thousands except per share amounts is derived from the Companys Consolidated Financial

Statements and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere

in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Year Ended December 31

Statements of Operations Data

Revenues

Total costs and expenses

Operating income

Interest expense net of interest and

other income

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss

Earnings loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Includes restructuring charges of $0.4 million $5.7 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively and impairment charges of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011

Includes $7.7 million income tax benefit related to reversal of the valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets in the United States for

the year ended December 31 2011

Includes restructuring charges net of tax of $0.3 million $5.2 million arid $0.9 million respectively for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 and impairment charges of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011

2009 2008 20072011 2010

316207 285953

295756 272293

20451 13660

1143 394

19308 13266

4662 3780

23970 9486

275940

274406

1534

320942

293941

27001

290287

269640

20647

945 1445 2233

589 25556 18414

3419 3688 5919

2830 21868 12495

0.65

0.64

0.26

0.26

0.08

0.08

0.60

0.59

0.35

0.35

December 31

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 34524 37170 36117

Working capital 103761 88181 7961

Total assets 207232 182101 174989

Long-term debt less current portion 31051 30085 30139

Stockholders equity 18889 98088 85330

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

30793 31570

83826 76917

173278 172053

35363 43185

91317 78336
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and notes thereto included

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Business Overview

Furmanite Corporation the Parent Company together with its subsidiaries collectively the Company or Furmanite was

incorporated in 1953 and conducts its principal business through its subsidiaries in the technical services industry The Companys
common stock no par value trades under the ticker symbol FRM on the NYSE

The Company provides specialized technical services including on-line services formerly referred to as under pressure services

which include leak sealing hot tapping line stopping line isolation composite repair and valve testing In addition the Company

provides off-line services formerly referred to as turnaround services including on-site machining heat treatment bolting and

valve repair and other services including smart shim services concrete repair engineering services and valve and other products and

manufacturing These products and services are provided primarily to electric power generating plants petroleum refineries which

include refineries and offshore drilling rigs including subsea chemical plants and other process industries in the Americas which
includes operations in North America South America and Latin America EMEA which includes operations in Europe the Middle

East and Africa and Asia-Pacific through Furmanite

Financial Overview

For the year ended December 2011 consolidated revenues increased by $30.3 million compared to the year ended December

2010 primarily related to increases in leak sealing line stopping bolting and composite repair services The Companys net income

for the year ended December 31 2011 increased by $14.5 million compared to the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in net

income was result of the increase in revenues for the current year as well as lower restructuring costs and operational improvements

realized as result of the cost reduction initiatives which began in late 2009 and continued throughout 2010 and into 2011 In addition

2011 net income was favorably impacted by $7.7 million adjustment to income tax benefit related to reversal of the valuation

allowance on the deferred tax assets in the United States

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company committed to cost reduction initiative including planned workforce reductions and

restructuring of certain functions in order to more strategically align the Companys operating selling general and administrative

costs relative to revenues As of December 2011 the Company has completed the 2009 cost reduction initiative with total

restructuring costs incurred of approximately $3.4 million of which $2.3 million and $1.1 million were incurred for the years ended

December31 2010 and 2009 respectively There was minimal restructuring activity for the year ended December 31 2011 related to

this initiative The Company estimates the effects of this initiative have resulted in annual cost reductions at 2009 activity levels of

approximately $11.0 million primarily compensation expenses which has reduced selling general and administrative costs

In the second quarter of 2010 the Company committed to an additional cost reduction initiative primarily related to the restructuring

of certain functions within the Companys EMEA operations The Company has taken specific actions in order to improve the

operational and administrative efficiency of its EMEA operations while providing structure which will allow for future expansion of

operations within the region The Company expects to incur total costs of approximately $4.0 million in connection with this cost

reduction initiative which are primarily related to severance and benefit costs For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

restructuring costs of $0.4 million and $3.4 million respectively were incurred as result of this additional cost reduction initiative

with the remaining $0.2 million expected to be incurred in 2012 The Company estimates the effects of this initiative have resulted in

annual cost reductions at 2010 activity levels of approximately $5.0 million primarily compensation expenses of which

approximately half will affect operating costs with the other half impacting selling general and administrative costs

As result of these two initiatives total restructuring costs negatively impacted operating income by $0.4 million $5.7 million and

$1.1 million and net income by $0.3 million $5.2 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively
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The Companys diluted earnings per
share for the year ended December 31 2011 were $0.64 compared to $0.26 per share for the

year

ended December 31 2010

Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31

219146

8231

68379

295756

20451

126
1017

19308

4662

23970

194594

6490

71209

272293

13660

549

943

13266

3780

9486

187269

5995

81142

274406

1534

434

1379

589

3419

2830

2011 2010 2009

in thousands except per share data

316207 285953 275940Revenues

Costs and expenses

Operating costs exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense

Selling general and administrative expense

Total costs and expenses

Operating income

Interest income and other income expense net

Interest expense

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss

Earnings loss per share

Basic

Diluted

0.65 0.26 0.08
0.64 0.26 0.08

13



Business Segment and Geographical Information

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

in thousands

Revenue

Americas 158515 135174 121642

EMEA 118649 109373 119211

Asia-Pacific 39043 41406 35087

Total Revenue 316207 285953 275940

Costs and expenses

Operating costs exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Americas 109305 90691 82703

EMEA 84028 80429 84048

Asia-Pacific 25813 23474 20518

Total operating costs exclusive of depreciation and amortization 219146 194594 187269

Operating costs as percentage of revenue 69.3% 68.1% 67.9%

Depreciation and amortization expense

Americas 4582 3450 3278

EMEA 2011 1885 1661

Asia-Pacific 1638 1155 1056

Total depreciation and amortization expense 8231 6490 5995

Depreciation and amortization expense as percentage of revenue 2.6% 2.3% 2.2%

Selling general and administrative expense

Americas including corporate 38558 40192 45838

EMEA 23629 25128 28608

Asia-Pacific 6192 5889 6696

Total selling general and administrative expense 68379 71209 81142

Selling general and administrative expense as percentage of revenue 21.6% 24.9% 9.4%

Total costs and expenses 295756 272293 274406

Includes corporate overhead costs of $13.7 million $15.4 million and $13.4 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

Geographical areas based on physical location are the Americas including corporate EMEA and Asia-Pacific The following

discussion and analysis as it relates to geographic information excludes intercompany transactions and any allocation of headquarter

costs to EMEA or Asia-Pacific

Revenues

For the
year

ended December 31 2011 consolidated revenues increased by $30.3 million or 10.6% to $316.2 million compared to

$285.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 Changes related to foreign currency exchange rates favorably impacted

revenues by $9.8 million of which $5.5 million $4.0 million and $0.3 million were related to favorable impacts from EMEA Asia-

Pacific and the Americas respectively Excluding the foreign currency exchange rate impact revenues increased by $20.5 million or

7.2% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to the same period for 2010 This $20.5 million increase in revenues consisted

of $23.0 million increase in the Americas and $3.8 million increase in EMEA partially offset by $6.3 million decrease in Asia-

Pacific The increase in revenues in the Americas was related to increases in both on-line and off-line services The revenue increase

within the Americas on-line services related to volume increases in leak sealing line stopping and hot tapping services of

approximately 26% when compared to revenues in the same period for 2010 Revenues increased within off-line services by

approximately 8% when compared to revenues in 2010 and were attributable to increases in bolting and on-site machining services

The increase in revenues in EMEA was primarily attributable to increases in on-line services The revenue increase in on-line services

in EMEA was primarily related to volume increases in leak sealing and composite repair services of approximately 13% when

compared to revenues in the same period for 2010 The decrease in revenues in Asia-Pacific was attributable to decreases in both on
line and off-line services The decrease within on-line services in Asia-Pacific primarily related to volume decreases in hot tapping

services in Singapore as large hot tapping project concluded in late 2010 resulting in an approximate 29% decrease in hot tapping

services when compared to revenue in the same period of the prior year The decrease in off-line services in Asia-Pacific is primarily

related to volume decreases in bolting services in Australia of approximately 12% due to inclement weather conditions in the first half
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of 2011 but these decreases were substantially offset by 10% increase in on-site machining services when compared to revenues in

the same period in 2010

For the year ended December 31 2010 consolidated revenues increased by $10.0 million or 3.6% to $285.9 million compared to

$275.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Changes related to foreign currency exchange rates favorably impacted

revenues by $1.8 million of which $4.2 million and $0.2 million were related to favorable impacts from Asia-Pacific and the

Americas respectively partially offset by unfavorable impacts in EMEA of $2.6 million Excluding the foreign currency exchange

rate impact revenues increased by $8.2 million or 3.0% for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the same period for

2009 This $8.2 million increase in revenues consisted of $13.3 million increase in the Americas and $2.1 million increase in Asia-

Pacific partially offset by $7.2 million decrease in EMEA The increase in revenues in the Americas was due to increases in on-line

services which included volume increases of approximately 16% in leak sealing and line stopping services revenue when compared to

the same period in 2009 Additionally other services revenues in the Americas increased by approximately 11% related to volume

increases in product and other manufacturing services including $4.7 million hot tapping equipment package sale The increase in

revenues in Asia-Pacific was primarily attributable to increases in off-line services in Australia and Malaysia which included volume

increases of approximately 8% in bolting services when compared to revenues in the same period in 2009 The decrease in revenues in

EMEA was primarily attributable to volume decreases in on-line and off-line services including an approximate 17% decrease in hot

tapping and valve repair services revenue when compared to revenues in the same period in 2009

Operating Costs exclusive of depreciation and amortization

For the year ended December 31 2011 operating costs including $1.1 million of restructuring and impairment costs increased $24.5

million or 12.6% to $219.1 million compared to $194.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 Changes related to foreign

currency exchange rates unfavorably impacted costs by $6.6 million of which $3.8 million $2.6 million and $0.2 million were related

to unfavorable impacts from EMEA Asia-Pacific and the Americas respectively Excluding the foreign currency exchange rate

impact operating costs increased $17.9 million or 9.2% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to the same period in

2010 This change consisted of an $18.4 million increase in the Americas but was partially offset by decreases of $0.3 million and

$0.2 million in EMEA and Asia-Pacific respectively The increase in operating costs in the Americas was primarily related to higher

material labor and equipment rental costs of approximately 18% when compared to the same period in 2010 which were attributable

to the increase in revenues The decrease in EMEA was due to decreases in labor costs of 2% associated with the cost reduction

initiatives and decreases in severance related restructuring costs which decreased from $2.0 million for the year ended December

2010 to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Substantially offsetting the decrease in EMEA was an impairment charge

of $0.9 million incurred in the fourth quarter of 2011 related to write down of certain assets in iermany based on the Companys
decision to discontinue providing certain services in that country The decrease in operating costs in Asia-Pacific was primarily

attributable to decrease in hot tapping related expenses in Singapore of approximately 5% when compared to the same period in

2010 which were associated with the decreased revenues in 2011

For the year ended December 31 2010 operating costs including $2.0 million of restructuring costs increased $7.3 million or 3.9%

to $194.6 million compared to $187.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Changes related to foreign currency exchange

rates unfavorably impacted costs by $0.6 million of which $2.5 million and $0.2 million were related to unfavorable impacts from

Asia-Pacific and the Americas respectively which were partially offset by favorable impact of $2.1 million in EMEA Excluding

the foreign currency exchange rate impact operating costs increased $6.7 million or 3.6% for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to the same period in 2009 This change consisted of $7.8 million and $0.4 million increase in the Americas and Asia-

Pacific respectively partially offset by decrease in EMEA of $1.5 million The increases in operating costs in the Americas and

Asia-Pacific were primarily related to higher material and labor costs of approximately 6% when compared to the same period in 2009

as result of the increase in revenues The decrease in EMEA was due to decrease in material and labor costs of 5% in 2011 due to

decrease in revenues but was partially offset by $2.0 million of severance related restructuring costs

Operating costs as percentage of revenue were 69.3% and 68.1% for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively The

percentage of operating costs to revenues was higher for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to the same period for 2010 due

in part to certain higher margin large jobs in 2010 which did not recur in 2011 impairment costs incurred in the current year as well as

the Company broadening its range of services to include projects with slightly lower margins Excluding impairment and restructuring

costs operating costs as percentage of revenue were 68.9% and 67.4% for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively

Operating costs as percentage of revenue were 68.1% and 67.9% for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The

percentage of operating costs to revenues was higher for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the same period for 2009 as

the result of the restructuring costs incurred in 2010 Excluding the restructuring costs operating costs as percentage of revenue were

67.4% slightly improved over 2009 as pricing in the market remained competitive In addition the reductions which resulted from the

restructuring initiatives were not fully realized until 2011 and the 2010 reductions which had begun to materialize were significantly

offset by inefficiencies in utilization in connection with the restructuring activities which were ongoing throughout 2010
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31 2011 depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.7 million or 26.8% when compared to

the year ended December 31 2010 Changes related to foreign currency exchange rates unfavorably impacted depreciation and

amortization
expense by $0.3 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Excluding foreign currency exchange rate impact

depreciation and amortization expense was $1.4 million higher in 2011 compared to the same period in 2010 Depreciation and

amortization
expense increased in the Americas and APAC as result of the stock and asset acquisition of Self Leveling Machines

Inc and Self Levelling Machine Pty Ltd respectively collectively SLM as well as the effects of capital expenditures of

approximately $6.5 million placed in service over the twelve-month period ended December 31 2011 Depreciation and amortization

expense related to the SLM acquisition was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 see Liquidity and Capital

Resources for additional information on the SLM acquisition

For the year ended December 31 2010 depreciation and amortization expense increased $0.5 million or 8.3% when compared to the

year ended December 31 2009 due to capital expenditures of approximately $7.3 million placed in service over the twelve-month

period ended December 31 2010 Changes related to foreign currency exchange rates were insignificant

Depreciation and amortization expense as percentage of revenue was 2.6% 2.3% and 2.2% for the
years

ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 respectively

Selling General and Administrative Expense

For the year ended December 31 2011 selling general and administrative
expenses

decreased $2.8 million or 3.9% to $68.4 million

compared to $71.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 Changes related to foreign currency exchange rates unfavorably

impacted costs by $1.7 million of which $1.1 million and $0.6 million were related to unfavorable impacts from EMEA and Asia-

Pacific respectively Excluding the foreign currency exchange rate impacts the $4.5 million decrease in selling general and

administrative costs consisted of $1.6 million $2.6 million and $0.3 million decreases in the Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific

respectively The decrease in selling general and administrative expenses in the Americas was primarily related to reductions in salary

and benefit costs within corporate of approximately 5% in 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010 In addition the year

ended December 31 2010 included corporate charges of approximately $0.5 million incurred in connection with the retirement of the

Companys former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and severance and other restructuring related charges of $0.4 million In

EMEA decreases in selling general and administrative costs were primarily result of reductions in restructuring costs which

decreased from $3.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010 to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 In Asia-

Pacific decreases in selling general and administrative costs were primarily result of reductions in salary and related costs of

approximately 13% in 2011 when compared to the same period in 2010

For the year ended December 31 2010 selling general and administrative expenses including $3.7 million of restructuring costs

decreased $9.9 million or 12.2% to $71.2 million compared to $81 .1 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Changes related

to foreign currency exchange were insignificant as whole as unfavorable Asia-Pacific impacts of approximately $0.7 million were

offset by favorable impacts in EMEA of the same amount Excluding the foreign currency exchange rate impacts the $9.9 million

decrease in selling general and administrative costs consisted of $5.7 million $2.7 million and $1.5 million decreases in the

Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific respectively Selling general and administrative expense in the Americas declined as result of

reductions in salary and related costs of approximately 6% as well as travel rent and professional fees of approximately 5%

compared to costs in 2009 result of the cost reduction initiatives Partially offsetting these decreases were $0.5 million of costs

incurred in connection with the retirement of the Companys former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as well as additional

severance and benefit related restructuring costs of $0.2 million and other restructuring costs of $0.2 million incurred in the year ended

December 31 2010 In EMEA decreases in selling general and administrative expenses were primarily result of reductions in

salary and related costs of approximately 10% when compared to the same period in 2009 These decreases were offset by

restructuring costs of $3.3 million incurred in the year ended December 31 2010 which included $2.0 million $0.8 million and $0.5

million related to severance and benefit costs lease termination costs and other restructuring costs respectively In Asia-Pacific

decreases in selling general and administrative costs were primarily result of reductions in salary and related costs of approximately

11% when compared to the same period in 2009

As result of the above factors selling general and administrative costs as percentage of revenue have decreased over the past three

years Selling general and administrative costs as percentage of revenue were 21.6% 24.9% and 29.4% for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Other Income

Interest Income and Other Income Expense Net

For the year ended December 31 2011 consolidated interest income and other income expense changed unfavorably by $0.7 million

when compared to the same period in 2010 Changes within interest income and other income expense primarily related to

fluctuations within foreign currency exchange transaction gains and losses

For the year ended December 31 2010 interest income and other income expense was consistent with 2009 amounts Interest

income and other income expense primarily relates to foreign currency exchange transaction gains and losses

Interest Expense

For the year ended December 31 2011 consolidated interest expense increased slightly by $0.1 million when compared to the same

period for 2010 The increase in interest expense for the year ended December 31 2011 was due to interest expense associated with

the SLM acquisition Interest rates on the average outstanding debt for the credit facility were consistent between such years

For the year ended December 31 2010 consolidated interest expense decreased by $0.4 million when compared to the same period

for 2009 The decrease in interest expense for the year ended December 31 2010 was due to decrease in
average outstanding debt

and interest rates for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

Income Taxes

The Company maintains valuation allowance to adjust the basis of net deferred tax assets in accordance with the provisions of

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Income Taxes As result

substantially all net deferred tax assets attributable to United States federal income taxes as well as certain state and foreign income

taxes recorded for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 were fully reserved with changes offset by corresponding change

in valuation allowance In 2011 based on the Companys assessment of future taxable income it was determined that the net deferred

tax assets in the United States are expected to be realized and accordingly the valuation allowance on federal and state deferred tax

assets has been reversed in 2011 This reversal of the valuation allowance net of the utilization of domestic net operating losses and

other related deferred tax changes of approximately $6.3 million during the year resulted in deferred tax benefit of approximately

$7.7 million in 2011 Additionally the income tax expense recorded for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 consisted

primarily of income tax expense
in foreign and state jurisdictions of the Company and deferred tax benefit of $1.2 million was

recognized in 2011 related to the SLM acquisition see Liquidity and Capital Resources for additional information on the SLM

acquisition

Income tax expense differs from the expected tax at statutory rates due primarily to the change in valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets and different tax rates in the various foreign jurisdictions Additionally the aggregate tax expenses are not consistent when

comparing periods due to the changing income tax mix between domestic and foreign operations and within the foreign operations In

concluding whether full valuation allowance on domestic federal stale or foreign income taxes is required the Company primarily

considered factors such as the history of operating income and losses future taxable income and the nature of the deferred tax assets

Income tax benefit as percentage of income before taxes was 24.1% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to income tax

expense of 28.5% for the year ended December 31 2010 Excluding the $1.2 million acquisition related deferred tax benefit and the

$7.7 million valuation allowance reversal related benefit income tax expense as percentage of income before taxes would have been

21.9% for the year ended December 31 2011 The remaining change in the current year income tax rate is related to changes in the

mix of income before income taxes between countries whose income taxes are offset by full valuation allowance and those that are

not and differing statutory tax rates in the countries in which the Company incurs tax liabilities The Company expects its effective

income tax rate to increase significantly beginning in 2012 based on the reversal of the valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets

in the United States

Income tax expense as percentage of income before taxes decreased to 28.5% for the year ended December 31 2010 from 580.5%

for the year ended December 31 2009 The change in rates is related to changes in the mix of taxable income between countries

whose taxes are offset by full valuation allowances and those that are not The income generate in certain foreign countries was

taxable in 2009 while losses in the U.S and certain other foreign countries were not tax affected during the same period This along

with the low level of pre-tax income resulted in an extremely high effective tax rate in 2009

In addition the tax rates in 2009 were significantly impacted by foreign currency transaction gains and losses For the
year ended

December 31 2009 the Companys U.K subsidiary recognized approximately $3.5 million of foreign currency transaction gains

primarily related to U.S dollar denominated notes outstanding under the Companys previous credit agreement During this same

period U.S.-based subsidiaries of the Company recognized foreign currency transaction losses substantially offsetting the impact of

the currency transaction gains in the U.K however income tax expense in the U.K related to these gains were not offset as the U.S
transaction losses had no tax effect due to the aforementioned valuation allowance on the Companys U.S federal taxes
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As noted in the following Liquidity and Capital Resources discussion the Company terminated its previous credit agreement and

replaced it with new credit agreement in 2009 The Company eliminated the foreign currency
translation exposure which was

inherent in the previous credit facility through the structuring of the new credit facility and as result significantly reduced its foreign

currency exposure as well as any related income tax impacts

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Companys liquidity and capital resources requirements include the funding of working capital needs the funding of capital

investments and the financing of internal growth

Net cash provided by operating activities was $7.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $7.8 million for the

year ended December 31 2010 The net cash provided by operating activities was comparable for the years ended December 31 2011

and 2010 as the increase in net income for the year ended December 31 2011 was substantially offset by changes in working capital

requirements including accounts receivable inventories and accrued expenses and other current liabilities as well as changes in non-

cash items The increase in net income is due to an increase in revenues coupled with lower restructuring costs and $7.7 million

income tax benefit related to reversal of the valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets in the United States Inventories increased

as result of the increase in revenues while the changes in accrued
expenses

and other liabilities decreased due to the timing of cash

payments which relate to items such as restructuring and other accrued employee compensation costs and the settlement or resolution

of certain other liabilities

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash provided by operating activities was $7.8 million compared to $17.9 million for the

year
ended December 31 2009 The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities of $10.1 million was primarily due to

changes in working capital requirements driven by increases in accounts receivable which decreased cash flows by $11.6 million in

2010 compared to an increase of approximately $13.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 The changes in accounts

receivable primarily related to general increase in business activity levels at the end of 2010 versus 2009 In addition the Company

paid approximately $1.5 million in the first quarter of 2010 related to an arbitration award settlement which was accrued as of

December 31 2009 The changes in operating assets and liabilities were partially offset by changes in non-cash items of $1.1 million

compared to the same period in 2009 and $12.3 million increase in net income for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared

to the same period in 2009 The increase in net income is due to an increase in revenues coupled with decreased selling general and

administrative costs and reduced income tax rates

Net cash used in investing activities increased to $10.4 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from $7 million for the year

ended December 31 2010 primarily due to $3.8 million of cash paid net of cash acquired of$l.2 million in connection with the SLM

acquisition The increase in cash used related to the SLM acquisition was partially offset by reduction in capital expenditures from

$7.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010 to $6.5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in capital

expenditures in 2011 compared to the prior year was due to the timing of when capital assets were acquired or placed in service in

2011 compared to 2010 and not related to any other factor

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash used in investing activities was $7.1 million compared to $7.0 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 The change was result of higher levels of capital expenditures in 2010 compared to 2009 Capital

expenditures totaled $7.3 million and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively In addition $0.4

million of payments were made in 2010 related to the acquisition of assets compared with $0.9 million of payments made in 2009

Consolidated capital expenditures for the calendar year 2012 have been budgeted at $14 million to $15 million The expected increase

in capital expenditures is based on the Companys requirements for estimated maintenance capital as well as in support of its growth

investment strategy Such expenditures however will depend on many factors beyond the Companys control including without

limitation demand for services as well as domestic and foreign government regulations No assurance can be given that required

capital expenditures will not exceed anticipated amounts during 2012 or thereafter Capital expenditures during the
year are expected

to be funded from existing cash and anticipated cash flows from operations

Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $0.4 million for the

year ended December 31 2010 Financing activities during 2011 primarily consisted of proceeds from stock option exercises

substantially offset by principal payments on certain short term debt and capital leases

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash provided by financing activities was $0.4 million compared to $5.9 million in net

cash used by financing activities for the year ended December 31 2009 Financing activities during the year ended December 31

2010 primarily consisted of proceeds from stock option exercises offset by principal payments on capital leases The decrease in cash

used for financing activities from 2009 primarily resulted from net principal debt payments totaling $5.0 million and payments of debt

issuance costs on the new credit facility of $0.7 million in the
year

ended December 31 2009

While the Companys operating results for the
year

ended December 31 2011 have improved as compared to the same period last

year the worldwide economy including the markets in which the Company operates continues in varying degrees to remain

sluggish and as such the Company believes that the risks to its business and its customers remain heightened Lower levels of
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liquidity and capital adequacy affecting lenders increases in defaults and bankruptcies by customers and suppliers and volatility in

credit and equity markets as observed in this economic environment could continue to have negative impact on the Companys
business operating results cash flows or financial condition in number of ways including reductions in revenues and profits

increased bad debts and financial instability of suppliers and insurers

Cash held in the bank accounts of foreign subsidiaries at December 31 2011 was 14.3 million The Company intends to permanently

reinvest undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and accordingly no provision for U.S federal or state income taxes has

been provided thereon If the Company were to repatriate the cash held by its foreign subsidiaries the Company would be required to

accrue and pay income taxes in the United States

On August 2009 certain foreign subsidiaries of FWI the designated borrowers and FWI entered into new credit agreemeni

dated July 31 2009 with banking syndicate comprising Bank of America N.A and Compass Bank the Credit Agreement The

Credit Agreement which matures on January 31 2013 provides revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million portion of the

amount available under the Credit Agreement not in excess of $20.0 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit In

addition portion of the amount available under the Credit Agreement not in excess of $5.0 million in the aggregate is available for

swing line loans to FWI The loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement may not exceed $35.0 million in the aggregate to the

foreign subsidiary designated borrowers

The proceeds from the initial borrowing on the Credit Agreement were $35.0 million and were used to repay the amounts outstanding

under the previous loan agreement which was scheduled to mature in January 2010 at which time the previous loan agreement was

terminated by the Company Letters of credit issued from the previous loan agreement were replaced with similar letters of credit by

the Credit Agreement There were no material circumstances surrounding the termination and no material early termination penalties

were incurred by FWI

At each of December31 2011 and 2010 $30.0 million was outstanding under the Credit Agreement Borrowings under the Credit

Agreement bear interest at variable rates based on the prime rate federal funds rate or Eurocurrency rate at the option of the

borrower including margin above such rates and subject to an adjustment based on calculated funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA
ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement which were 2.3% at both December 31 2011 and 2010 The Credit Agreement contains

commitment fee which ranges between 0.25% to 0.30% based on the funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio and was 0.25% at both

December 31 2011 and 2010 based on the unused portion of the amount available under the Credit Agreement Adjusted EBITDA is

net income plus interest income taxes depreciation and amortization and other non-cash
expenses minus income tax credits and non-

cash items increasing net income as defined in the Credit Agreement All obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by

FWI and certain of its subsidiaries under guaranty and collateral agreement and are secured by first priority lien on FWI and

certain of its subsidiaries assets which approximates $148.6 million of current assets and property and equipment as of Dec ember 31
2011 and is without recourse to the Parent Company The Credit Agreement includes requirements that the Company must maintain

funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of no more than 2.75 to 1.0 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter measured on trailing

four-quarters basis and ii fixed charge coverage ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement of at least 3.0 to 1.0 for the same

trailing four quarter period FWI is also subject to certain other compliance provisions including but not limited to maintaining

certain tangible asset concentration levels and capital expenditure limitations as well as restrictions on indebtedness guarantees

dividends and other contingent obligations and transactions Events of default under the Credit Agreement include customary events

such as change of control breach of covenants or breach of representations and warranties At December 31 2011 FWI was in

compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement

Considering the outstanding borrowings of $30.0 million and $1.5 million related to outstanding letters of credit the unused

borrowing capacity under the existing Credit Agreement was $18.5 million at December 31 2011 with limit of $5.0 million of this

capacity remaining for the foreign subsidiary designated borrowers

On February 23 2011 FWI entered into Stock Purchase Agreement to acquire 100% of the outstanding stock of Self Leveling

Machines Inc and subsidiary of FWI entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire substantially all of the material operating

and intangible assets of Self Levelling Machines Pty Ltd collectively SLM for total consideration of $8.9 million net of cash

acquired of $1.2 million of which approximately $4.7 million relates to the Americas and the balance relates to APAC SLM provides

large scale on-site machining which includes engineering fabrication and execution of highly-specialized machining solutions for

large-scale equipment or operations

In connection with the acquisition of SLM on February 23 2011 FWI entered into consent and waiver agreement as it relates to the

Credit Agreement Pursuant to the consent and waiver agreement Bank of America N.A and Compass Bank consented to the SLM
acquisition and waived any default or event of default for certain debt covenants that would arise as result of the SLM acquisition

FWI funded the cost of the acquisition with $5.0 million in cash and by issuing notes payable the Notes to the sellers equity

holders for $5.1 million $2.9 million denominated in U.S dollar and $2.2 million denominated in Australian dollar payable in

installments through February 23 2013 All obligations under the Notes are secured by first priority lien on the assets acquired in the

acquisition At December 31 2011 $5.1 million was outstanding under the Notes The Notes bear interest at fixed rate of 2.5% per

annum
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The Company committed to cost reduction initiatives at the end of 2009 and in the first half of 2010 in order to more strategically

align the Companys operating selling general and administrative costs relative to revenues As of December 31 2011 the costs

incurred since the inception of these cost reduction initiatives totaled approximately $7.2 million During the year ended December 31

2011 the Company incurred restructuring charges of $0.4 million and made cash payments of $1.2 million related to these initiatives

As of December 31 2011 the remaining reserve associated with these initiatives totaled $0.7 million with estimated additional

charges to be incurred of approximately $0.2 million all of which are expected to require cash payments Total workforce reductions

in which severance costs were incurred related to the cost reduction initiatives included terminations for 171 employees which

included reductions of3l employees in the Americas 139 employees in EMEA and one employee in Asia-Pacific

The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends as it believes investing earnings back into the Company will provide better

long-term return to stockholders in increased per share value The Company believes that funds generated from operations together

with existing cash and available credit under the Credit Agreement will be sufficient to finance current operations planned capital

expenditure requirements and internal growth for the foreseeable future

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents in thousands the long-term contractual obligations of the Company as of December 31 2011 in total

and by period due begitming in 2012 The operating leases contain renewal options by the Company that are not reflected in the table

below The Company anticipates that these renewal options will likely be exercised

Less Than More than

Total Year -3 Years -5 Years Years

Debt

Borrowings under existing revolving credit facility 30000 30000

Notes payable 5095 4103 992

Capital leases 68 25 35
____________

Debt subtotal 35163 4128 31027

Interest on debt 936 841 94
__________ __________

Total debt and interest 36099 4969 31121

Other contractual commitments

Operating leases 19098 6108 6503 3148 3339

Pension plan contributions 13440 1344 2688 2688 6720

Purchase obligations 8000 2500 5500

Other obligations
710 710

__________ __________ __________

Total other contractual commitments 41248 10662 14691 5836 10059

Total 77347 15631 45812 5845 10059

Accrued restructuring costs

Interest on debt is calculated based on outstanding balances using the weighted average interest rate for 2011 Estimated annual

defined benefit pension plan contributions are assumed to be consistent with the current expected contribution level of $1.3 million

Income tax liabilities are not included in the above contractual obligations At December 31 2011 the Companys gross liability for

uncertainty in income taxes under ASC 740-10-65 Income Taxes was $1.1 million The Company cannot determine reliable

estimate of the timing of cash flows by period related to its ASC 740-10-65 liability However should the entire ASC 740-10-65

liability be paid the amount of the payment may be partially reduced as result of offsetting benefits in other tax jurisdictions See

Note 12 under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Aimual Report on Form 10-K for additional information

regarding ASC 740-10-65

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP promulgated by FASB its predecessors

and others as of June 30 2009 as well as future authoritative accounting principles are set forth in the FASB Accounting Standards

Codfication Codification Future references to U.S GAAP will be to the Codification number rather than to literature numbers

and titles such as FASB Statements of Financial Accounting Standards numbers and titles basic overview of the codification is

available on the Internet without charge at www.fasb.org where the codification is explained at FASB ASC 105-10 Generally

Accepted Accounting Principles

The preparation of the Companys financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
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the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ

from those estimates Significant policies are presented in Note under Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Critical accounting policies are those that are most important to the portrayal of the Companys financial position and results of

operations These policies require managements most difficult subjective or complex judgments often employing the use of

estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain The Companys critical accounting policies and estimates for which

no significant changes have occurred for the year ended December 31 2011 include revenue recognition allowance for doubtful

accounts goodwill intangible assets and long-lived assets stock-based compensation income taxes defined benefit pension plan

contingencies and restructuring accruals Critical accounting policies are discussed by management regularly at least quarterly with

the Audit Committee of the Companys Board of Directors

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recorded in accordance with FASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition when realized or realizable and earned

Revenues are recognized using the completed-contract method when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists services to

customers have been rendered or products have been delivered the selling price is fixed or determinable and collectability is

reasonably assured Revenues are recorded net of sales tax Substantially all projects are short term in nature however the Company
occasionally enters into contracts that are longer in duration that represent multiple element arrangements which include

combination of services and products The Company separates deliverables into units of accounting based on whether the deliverables

have standalone value to the customer The arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting based on each

units relative selling price generally determined using vendor specific objective evidence Revenues are recognized for the separate

units of accounting when services to customers have been rendered or products have been delivered and risk of ownership has passed

to the customer The Company provides limited warranties to customers depending upon the service performed Warranty claim costs

were not material during any of the years ended December 31 2011 2010 or 2009

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Credit is extended to customers based on evaluation of the customers financial condition and generally collateral is not required

Accounts receivable outstanding longer than contractual payment terms are considered past due The Company regularly evaluates

and adjusts accounts receivable as doubtful based on combination of write-off history aging analysis and information available on

specific accounts The Company writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible Any payments subsequently received

on such receivables are credited to the allowance in the period the payment is received

Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 350 Intangibles

Goodwill and Other Under FASB ASC 350 intangible assets with lives restricted by contractual legal or other means are amortized

over their useful lives Gross finite-lived intangible assets of $3.7 million and $1.3 million respectively were also included in

intangible and other assets at each of December 31 2011 and 2010 with accumulated amortization of $1.2 million and $0.5 million

respectively Amortization
expense for finite-lived intangible assets totaled $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the

provisions of FASB ASC 360

Goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each

calendar year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired Examples of such

events or circumstances include significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate an adverse action or

assessment by regulator or loss of key personnel

FASB ASC 350 requires two-step process for testing goodwill impairment First the fair value of each reporting unit is compared to

its carrying value to determine whether an indication of impairment exists reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below

an operating segment referred to as component Two or more components of an operating segment shall be aggregated and deemed

single reporting unit if the components have similar economic characteristics The Company has three reporting unit for the purpose

of testing goodwill impairment as the business segments are determined to be the reporting units Second if an impairment is

indicated the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill is determined by allocating the units fair value to its assets and

liabilities including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the reporting unit had been acquired in business combination The

amount of impairment for goodwill and other intangible assets is measured as the excess of the carrying value over the implied fair

value
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The Company uses market capitalization as the basis for its measurement of the Companys fair value as management considers this

approach the most meaningful measure considering the quoted market price as providing the best evidence of fair value In

performing the analysis the Company uses the stock price on December 31 of each year as the valuation date The fair value is

allocated to the reporting units based on relative fair values considering factors including expected future discounted cash flows using

reasonable and appropriate assumptions about the underlying business activities of each reporting unit On December 31 2011 the

Companys fair value substantially exceeded its carrying value in each of its three reporting units

Based on valuations and market approach analysis performed by the Company at December 31 2011 and 2010 no impairment was

indicated As of December 31 2011 and 2010 goodwill totaled $14.6 million and $13.1 million respectively The increase in

goodwill was related to the SLM acquisition which increased goodwill in the Americas and APAC In the Americas goodwill totaled

$6.1 million and $4.9 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Goodwill in EMEA totaled $6.6 million at each of

December 2011 and 2010 and goodwill in Asia-Pacific totaled $1 .9 million and $1.6 million at December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively At December 31 2011 and 2010 $3.0 million and $2.1 million respectively of indefinite -lived intangible assets

primarily tradenames were included in intangible and other assets on the consolidated balance sheets

As of December 2011 future amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization is estimated to

be as follows in thousands

2011

Fiscal Year

2012
713

2013 705

2014 598

2015 424

2016
52

Thereafter
52

Total 2544

The weighted average
amortization period for intangible assets subject to amortization is approximately 3.9

years

Property P/ant and Equipment

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 360 Property P/ant and Equipment

Under FASB ASC 360 the Company reviews long-lived assets which consist of finite-lived intangible assets and property and

equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may

not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate Factors that may affect recoverability include

changes in planned use of equipment closing of facilities and discontinuance of service lines Property and equipment to be held and

used is reviewed at least annually for possible impairment The Companys impairment review is based on an estimate of the

undiscounted cash flow at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows exist Impairment occurs when the carrying value of the

assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows generated by the asset and the impairment is viewed as other than

temporary When impairment is indicated an impairment charge is recorded for the difference between the carrying value of the asset

and its fair market value Depending on the asset fair market value may be determined either by use of discounted cash flow model

or by reference to estimated selling values of assets in similarcondition In 2011 an impairment of $0.9 million was recorded to write

down certain assets in Germany based on the Companys decision to discontinue providing certain services in that country No

impairment of long-lived assets was recorded during 2010 or 2009

Stock-Based Compensation

All stock-based compensation is recognized as an expense in the financial statements and such costs are measured at the fair value of

the award at the date of grant The fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant as determined by the Black-Scholes

model is affected by the Companys stock price on the date of the grant as well as other assumptions Assumptions utilized in the fair

value calculations include the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards estimated using the historical volatility of

the Companys stock price the risk free interest rate based on the U.S Treasury Note rate over the expected term of the option the

dividend yield assumed to be zero as the Company has not paid nor anticipates paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future

and employee stock option exercise behavior and forfeiture assumptions based on historical experience and other relevant factors
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences between the U.S GAAP and tax treatment of certain income and

expense items The Company must assess and make estimates regarding the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered

To the extent that it is determined the deferred tax assets will not be recovered valuation allowance must be established for such

assets In making such determination the Company must take into account positive and negative evidence including projections of

future taxable income and assessments of potential tax planning strategies At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Companys valuation

allowance was $6.0 million and $20.0 million respectively At the end of 2011 based on the Companys assessment of future taxable

income it was determined that the net deferred tax assets in the United States are expected to be realized and accordingly the

valuation allowance on federal and state deferred tax assets has been reversed in the current period This reversal of the valuation

allowance net of the utilization of domestic net operating losses and other related deferred tax changes of approximately $6.3 million

during the year resulted in deferred tax benefit of approximately $7.7 million which was recognized in 2011 The net deferred tax

assets at December 31 2011 relate to U.S federal and state and foreign tax items The net deferred tax assets at December 31 2010

relate to certain domestic state and foreign tax items

The Company and its subsidiaries file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the United States as well as various

foreign jurisdictions The Companys U.S federal income tax returns for 2007 and subsequent years remain subject to examination

Additionally net operating loss carryforwards originating in years prior to 2007 could be subject to examination to the extent of the

loss carryforwards All material foreign income tax matters have been concluded for years through 2005

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be

sustained on examination by the applicable taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position The tax benefit recognized

is based on the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the

taxing authority Uncertain tax positions in certain foreign jurisdictions would not impact the effective foreign tax rate because

unrecognized non-current tax benefits are offset by the foreign net operating loss carryforwards which are fully reserved The

Company recognizes interest
expense on underpayments of income taxes and accrued penalties related to unrecognized non-current

tax benefits as part of the income tax provision

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Pension benefit costs and liabilities are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts The primary assumptions include

factors such as discount rates expected investment return on plan assets mortality rates and retirement rates In 2011 the discount rate

assumption used to determine end of
year

benefit obligations was 5.0% These rates are renewed annually and adjusted to reflect

current conditions Based on this information the discount rate for 2012 is 5.0% These rates are determined based on reference to

yields The compensation increase rate of 3.4% per year is based on historical experience The expected return on plan assets of 5.3%

for 2012 is derived from detailed periodic studies which include review of asset allocation strategies anticipated future long-term

performance of individual asset classes risks standard deviations and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise

the plans asset mix While the studies give appropriate consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns the

assumptions are primarily long-term prospective rates of return Mortality and retirement rates are based on actual and anticipated

plan experience In accordance with U.S GAAP actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over

future periods and therefore generally affect recognized expense and the recorded obligation in future periods While management
believes that the assumptions used are appropriate differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may affect pension and

postretirement obligation and future expense

Coniingencies

Environmental

Liabilities are recorded when site restoration or environmental remediation and cleanup obligations are either known or considered

probable and can be reasonably estimated Recoveries of environmental costs through insurance indemnification arrangements or

other sources are recognized when such recoveries become certain

The Company capitalizes environmental costs only if the costs are recoverable and the costs extend the life increase the capacity or

improve the safety or efficiency of property owned by the Company as compared with the condition of that property when originally

constructed or acquired or if the costs mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has yet to occur and that otherwise may
result from future operations or activities and the costs improve the property compared with its condition when constructed or

acquired All other environmental costs are expensed
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Other

The Company establishes liability for all other loss contingencies when information indicates that it is probable that an asset has

been impaired or liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated

Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations

In the fourth quarter of 2009 and in the first half of 2010 the Company committed to cost reduction initiatives including planned

workforce reductions and restructuring of certain functions The Company has taken these specific actions in order to more

strategically align its operating selling general and administrative costs relative to revenues The Company has recorded expenses

related to these cost reduction initiatives for severance lease cancellations and other restructuring costs in accordance with FASB

ASC 420-10 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations and FASB ASC 712-10 Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits

Under FASB ASC 420-10 costs associated with restructuring activities are generally recognized when they are incurred In the case

of leases the expense is estimated and accrued when the property is vacated In addition post-employment benefits accrued for

workforce reductions related to restructuring activities are accounted for under FASB ASC 712-10 liability for post-employment

benefits is generally recorded when payment is probable the amount is reasonably estimable and the obligation relates to rights that

have vested or accumulated The Company continually evaluates the adequacy of the remaining liabilities under its restructuring

initiatives Although the Company believes that these estimates accurately reflect the costs of its restructuring plans actual results may

differ thereby requiring the Company to record additional provisions or reverse portion of such provisions

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

The Company was not party to any off-balance sheet transactions at December 31 2011 or for any of the years ended December 31

20112010 or 2009

Inflation and Changing Prices

The Company does not operate or conduct business in hyper-inflationary countries nor enter into long-term supply contracts that may

impact margins due to inflation Changes in prices of goods and services are reflected on proposals bids or quotes submitted to

customers
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Companys principal market risk
exposures i.e the risk of loss arising from the adverse changes in market rates and prices are

to changes in interest rates on the Companys debt and investment portfolios and fluctuations in foreign currency

The Company centrally manages its debt considering investment opportunities and risks tax consequences and overall financing

strategies Based on the amount of variable rate debt $30.0 million at December 31 2011 an increase in interest rates by one hundred

basis points would increase annual interest expense by approximately $0.3 million

significant portion of the Companys business is exposed to fluctuations in the value of the U.S dollar as compared to foreign

currencies as result of the foreign operations of the Company in Australia Bahrain Belgium Canada China Denmark France

Germany Malaysia The Netherlands New Zealand Nigeria Norway Singapore Sweden and the United Kingdom Overall volatility

in currency exchange rates has increased over the past several years During 2011 currencies have strengthened as foreign currencies

exchange rate changes primarily the Euro the Australian Dollar and the British Pound relative to the U.S dollar resulted in

favorable impact on the Companys U.S dollar reported revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 when compared to the year

ended December 31 2010 The revenue impact was somewhat mitigated with similar exchange effects on operating costs thereby

reducing the exchange rate effect on operating income The Company does not use interest rate or foreign currency rate hedges

Based on annual 2011 foreign currency-based revenues and operating income of $165.1 million and $16.2 million respectively ten

percent fluctuation of all applicable foreign currencies would result in an annual change in revenues and operating income of $15.0

million and $1 .5 million respectively

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements and supplementary data of the Company begin on page F-3 of this report Such information is

hereby incorporated by reference into this Item

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Companys management with the participation of the Companys principal executive officer and principal financial officer have

evaluated as required by Rules 13a-15e and l5a-15e of the Exchange Act the disclosure controls and procedures as defined in

Rule l3a-lSe and 15a-15e of the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by the Annual Report on Form 10-K Based

on that evaluation the principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the design and operation of the

Companys disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective as of December 31 2011 to provide reasonable assurance

that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act 15 U.S.C 78a et

seq is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commissions rules and forms and is

accumulated and communicated to the Companys management including its principal executive and principal financial officers or

persons performing similar functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 3a- 5f and Sd-I 5f of the Exchange Act Internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or

under the supervision of the Companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions

and effected by the Companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles in the United States and includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company
ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Therefore even

those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
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presentation Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management with the participation of the Companys principal executive and financial officers assessed the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 using the framework and criteria set forth by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework

Managements assessment included an evaluation of the design of internal control over financial reporting and testing of the

operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting Based on this assessment management has concluded that the

Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

Grant Thornton LLP as independent registered public accounting firm has audited the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 as stated in their report included herein

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Companys internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2011 that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10 will be contained in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in connection with the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 will be contained in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in connection with the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item 12 will be contained in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to

Regulation l4A of the Exchange Act in connection with the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 will be contained in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to

Regulation l4A of the Exchange Act in connection with the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 will be contained in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in connection with the Companys 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated

herein by reference
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Beginning

Page

Financial Statements and Schedules

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Regarding Internal Control over Financial Reporting F-I

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 2011 and 2010 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
years

ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Loss for the years
ended December 31 2011

2010 and2009 F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

Schedules

None

Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required or because the required

information is included in the consolidated financial statements or related notes thereto
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Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference

2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 31 2005 among Flowserve US Inc IPSCO UK Limited Flowserve

Repair Services B.V Flowserve Management Company Flowserve Belgium NV Furmanite US GSG LLC
Furmanite GSG Limited Funnanite GSG BVBA Furmanite Worldwide Inc and Furmanite GSG B.V incorporated

by reference herein to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed on January 2006

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated September 26 1979 incorporated by reference herein to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-16

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated April 30 1981

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 1981

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated May 28 1985

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 1985

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated September 17 1985

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30
1985

3.5 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated July 10 1990

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 1990

3.6 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated September 21 1990

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30
1990

3.7 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated August 2001

incorporated by reference herein Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22

2001

3.8 By-laws of the Registrant as amended and restated June 14 2007 filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on June 20 2007 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by reference

4.1 Certificate of Designation Preferences and Rights related to the Registrants Series Junior Participating Preferred

Stock filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrants 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 which exhibit is

incorporated herein by reference

4.2 Rights Agreement dated as of April 15 2008 between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Trust Company

N.A national banking association as Rights Agent which includes as exhibits the Form of Rights Certificate and

the Summary of Rights to Purchase Stock filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Form 8-A/A filed on April 18 2008

which exhibit is incorporated herein by reference

4.3 Letters to stockholders of the Registrant dated April 19 2008 incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.2 to the

Registrants Form 8-A/A filed on April 18 2008

10.1 Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement effective January 2009 filed as Exhibit 10.1 of the exhibits

to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by

reference

10.2 Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement effective January 2009 filed as Exhibit 10.2 of the exhibits

to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by

reference

10.3 Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement effective January 2009 filed as Exhibit 10.3 of the exhibits

to the Registrants Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2008 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by

reference

10.6 Furmanite Corporation formerly Xanser Corporation and formerly Kaneb Services Inc Savings Investment Plan as

amended filed as Exhibit 4.10 of the exhibits to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-8 Form S-8
S.E.C File No 033-41295 as Exhibit 4.1 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8 S.E.C File No 333-14067
and as Exhibit 4.9 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8 S.E.C File No 333-83968 which exhibits are hereby

incorporated by reference
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10.7 Furmanite Corporation formerly Xanser Corporation and formerly Kaneb Services Inc 1994 Stock Incentive Plan

as Amended as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22 2001 and as

Exhibit 10.1 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30 2003 which exhibits are

hereby incorporated by reference

10.8 Furmanite Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated March 2009 as Appendix to

Schedule 14A filed on April 2009 and as Exhibit 99.1 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8 filed on June

2009 which Appendix and exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference

10.9 Kaneb Services Inc $1.63 Director Stock Options filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8

S.E.C File No 033-58981 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by reference

10.10 Kaneb Services Inc Directors Stock Options filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8

S.E.C File No 333-14069 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by reference

10.11 Kaneb Services Inc 1996 Directors Stock Incentive Plan as amended filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the exhibits of the

Registrants Form S-8 S.E.C File No 333-14071 and as Exhibit 4.1 to the exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8

S.E.C File No 333-22109 and as supplemented filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Exhibits of the Registrants Form S-8

S.E.C File No 333-60 195 which exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference

10.12 Kaneb Services Inc 1994 Stock Option Agreements filed as Exhibits 10.1 10.2 10.3 and 10.4 to the exhibits of the

Registrants Form S-8 S.E.C File No 333-34496 which exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference

10.13 Form of Indemnification Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.12 of the exhibits to the Registrants Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2008 which exhibit is hereby incorporated by reference

10.14 Credit Agreement dated July 31 2009 among Furmanite Worldwide Inc and certain subsidiaries as Borrowers

Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent Compass Bank as Syndication Agent and the Lenders party thereto

incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August

2009

10.15 Guaranty and Collateral Agreement dated July 31 2009 among Furmanite Worldwide Inc and each of the other

grantors as defined therein in favor of Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent incorporated by reference

herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 2009

10.16 Consulting Agreement dated April 2010 among Furmanite Corporation and Michael Rose the Companys

former Chief Executive Officer as Consultant incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrants

Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2010

10.17 Furmanite Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated June 14 2011 incorporated by reference

herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2011

10.18 Performance Based Long Term Executive Incentive Restricted Stock Grants incorporated by reference herein to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2011

10.19 Credit Agreement dated as of March 2012 among Furmanite Worldwide Inc and certain subsidiaries as

Borrowers JPMorgan Chase N.A as Administrative Agent Wells Fargo Bank N.A as Syndication Agent and the

Lenders party thereto incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on March 2012

10.20 Guaranty and Collateral Agreement dated as of March 2012 among Furmanite Worldwide Inc and each of the

other grantors as defined therein in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Administrative Agent incorporated by

reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 2012

10.21 Parent Pledge Agreement dated as of March 2012 made by Furmanite Corporation in favor of JPMorgan Chase

Bank NA as Administrative Agent incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on March 2012

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 dated as of

March 2012

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 dated as of

March 2012

30



32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906a of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 dated as of

March 2012

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906a of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 dated as of

March 2012

l01.INS XBRL Instance Document

10l.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

l01.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Denotes management contracts

Filed herewith

These exhibits are furnished herewith In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T these exhibits are not deemed to be

filed or part of registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 as

amended are not deemed to be filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

otherwise are not subject to liability under these sections
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

of Furmanite Corporation

We have audited Furmanite Corporation Delaware corporation and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries management is responsible for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting based on

our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect

on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to ftiture periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by COSO

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related

consolidated statements of operations comprehensive income loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31 2011 and our report dated March 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas Texas

March 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

of Furmanite Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Furmanite Corporation Delaware Corporation and subsidiaries

as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive income loss stockholders

equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period ended December 31 2011 These financial statements are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Furmanite Corporation and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO and our report dated March 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas Texas

March 2012
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FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share data

December 31 December 31

2011 2010

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 34524 37170

Accounts receivable trade net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1272 and $1497 as of

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively
71508 63630

Inventories net 26557 24366

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets 13171 5951

Total current assets 145760 131117

Property and equipment 82758 73969

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 48698 43249

Property and equipment net 34060 30720

Goodwill 14624 13148

Deferred tax assets non-current 5582 2872

Intangible and other assets 7206 4244

Total assets 207232 182101

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 4112 76

Accounts payable 17381 17815

Accrued
expenses

and other current liabilities 19176 24488

Income taxes payable 1330 557

Total current liabilities 41999 42936

Long-term debt non-current 31051 30085

Net pension liability 12374 8432

Other liabilities 2919 2560

Commitments and contingencies Note 13

Stockholders equity

Series Preferred Stock unlimited shares authorized none outstanding

Common stock no par value 60000000 shares authorized 41140538 and 40925619 shares

issued as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively 4765 4745

Additional paid-in capital 133062 132132

Retained earnings accumulated deficit 11597 12373

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 12522 8403

Treasury stock at cost 4008963 shares as ofDecember 31 2011 and 2010 18013 18013

Total stockholders equity 118889 98088

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 207232 182101

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

F-3



FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except share and per share data

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Revenues 316207 285953 275940
Costs and expenses

Operating costs exclusive of depreciation and amortization 219146 194594 187269

Depreciation and amortization
expense 8231 6490 5995

Selling general and administrative expense 68379 71209 81142

Total costs and expenses 295756 272293 274406

Operating income 20451 13660 1534

Interest income and other income expense net 126 549 434

Interest
expense 1017 943 1379

Income before income taxes 19308 13266 589

Income tax expense benefit 4662 3780 3419

Net income loss 23970 9486 2830

Earnings loss per common share

Basic 0.65 0.26 0.08
Diluted 0.64 0.26 0.08

Weighted-average number of common and common equivalent shares used in computing

earnings loss per common share

Basic 37034 36751 36632

Diluted 37296 36944 36632

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

in thousands except share data

Common Shares Common

Issued Treasury Stock

Balances at January 2009 40612815 4008963 4.715

Net loss

Stock-based compensation and stock option

exercises 70000

Change in pension net actuarial loss and
prior

service credit net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Balances at December 31 2009 40682815 4008963 4723

Net income

Stock-based compensation and stock option

exercises

Change in pension net actuarial loss and poor

service credit net of tax

Other

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Balances at December 31 2010 40925619 4008963 4745

Net income

Stock-based compensation and stock option

exercises 214919

Change in pension net actuarial loss and poor

service credit net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Balances at December 31 2011 41140538 4008963 4.765

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income Loss

7774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Additional

Paid-In

Capital

131418

Accumulated Deficit

Retained_Earnings

19029

2830

242804

688

8918
5065

132106 21859 11627

9486

1469

3484

1443
260

132132 12373 8403

23970

930

3097
1022

133062 11597 12522

Treasury

Stock Total

18013 91317

2830

696

8918
5065

18013 85330

9486

1491

3484

1443

260

18013 98088

23970

950

3097
1022

18013 $118889
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FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Operating activities

Net income loss 23970 9486 2830
Reconciliation of net income loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 8231 6490 5995

Provision for doubtful accounts 392 113 498

Stock-based compensation expense 680 913 571

Deferred income taxes 9342 286 227
Other net 960 141 313
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 8174 11582 13652

Inventories 2803 2475 685
Prepaid expenses

and other current assets 522 658 735
Accounts payable 504 868 902
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 5564 461 320

Income taxes payable 434 1020 2187

Other net 130 249 426

Net cash provided by operating activities 7888 7836 17957

Investing activities

Capital expenditures 6450 7312 6541
Acquisition of assets and business net of cash acquired of$1185 in 2011 4073 350 900
Proceeds from sale of assets 137 574 447

Net cash used in investing activities 10386 7088 6994

Financing activities

Payments on debt 207 237 40435
Proceeds from issuance of debt 78 35049

Debt issuance costs 658
Issuance of common stock 270 578 125

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 63 419 5919

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 211 114 280

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 2646 1053 5324

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 37170 36117 30793

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 34524 37170 36117

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 713 782 1400

Cash paid for income taxes net of refunds received 4037 3491 846

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Issuance of notes payable to equity holders related to acquisition of business 5050

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Net income loss 23970 9486 2830
Other comprehensive income loss

Change in pension net actuarial loss and prior service credit net of tax 3097 3484 8918

Foreign currency
translation adjustments 1022 260 5065

Total other comprehensive income loss 4119 3224 3853

Comprehensive income loss 19851 12710 6683

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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FURMANITE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31 2011

Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Furmanite Corporation the Parent Company together with its subsidiaries collectively the Company or Furmanite provides

specialized technical services including on-line services formerly referred to as under pressure services such as leak sealing hot

tapping line stopping line isolation composite repair and valve testing In addition the Company provides off-line services formerly

referred to as turnaround services including on-site machining heat treatment bolting and valve repair and other services

including smart shim services concrete repair engineering services and valve and other products and manufacturing These products

and services are provided primarily to electric power generating plants petroleum industry which includes refineries and offshore

drilling rigs includes subsea chemical plants and other process industries in the Americas which includes operations in North

America South America and Latin America EMEA which includes operations in Europe the Middle East and Africa and Asia-

Pacific through wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company Furmanite Worldwide Inc FWI and its domestic and

international subsidiaries and affiliates Furmanite currently operates over 25 offices in the United States U.S including Saraland

Alabama Benicia California Torrance California Lombard Illinois Hobart Indiana Geismar Louisiana Sulphur Louisiana

Paulsboro New Jersey Charlotte North Carolina Muskogee Oklahoma Pittsburgh Pennsylvania Houston Texas La Porte Texas
Salt Lake City Utah and Kent Washington The worldwide operations are further supported by offices currently located on six

continents in Australia Azerbaijan Bahrain Belgium Canada China Denmark France Germany Malaysia The Netherlands New
Zealand Nigeria Norway Singapore Sweden and the United Kingdom U.K and by licensee and agency arrangements which are

based in Argentina Brazil Egypt Hungary Italy Japan Lithuania Mexico Peru Puerto Rico Romania Russia South Africa

Thailand Trinidad Turkey and the United Arab Emirates

The Companys common stock no par value trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol FRM

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries The following

significant accounting policies are followed by the Company and its subsidiaries in the preparation of its Consolidated Financial

Statements All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is generally invested in high credit quality and highly liquid short-term investments with original maturities of three months or

less Accordingly uninvested cash in excess of requirements for operating purposes is kept at minimum levels Cash equivalents are

stated at cost which approximates market value and are primarily invested in conservative highly-rated instruments issued by

financial institutions or government entities with strong credit ratings At certain times such amounts exceed the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance limits The Company had short-term investments with two financial institutions at

December 31 2011 that were not insured by the FDIC in the amount of $13.5 million The Company has not experienced any losses

on these investments Cash in foreign bank accounts at December 31 2011 and 2010 was $14.3 million and $15.7 million

respectively

Accounts Receivable

The majority of accounts receivable are due from companies with petroleum refineries chemical plants offshore energy production

platforms steel mills nuclear power stations conventional power stations pulp and paper mills food and beverage processing plants

and other flow-processing facilities Credit is extended based on evaluation of the customers financial condition and generally

collateral is not required Accounts receivable outstanding longer than contractual payment terms are considered past due The

Company regularly evaluates and adjusts for doubtful accounts receivable based on combination of write-off history aging analysis

and information available on specific accounts The Company writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible Any

payments subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance in the period the payment is received

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31 are as follows in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts at beginning of year 1497 1617 4627
Provisions for doubtful accounts 392 113 498

Currency adjustments 26 46

Write-offs net of recoveries 591 235 3554
Allowance for doubtful accounts at end of year 1272 1497 1617

F-8



Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method Inventory quantities

on hand are reviewed regularly based on related service levels and functionality and carrying cost is reduced to net realizable value

for inventories in which their cost exceeds their utility due to physical deterioration obsolescence changes in price levels or other

causes The cost of inventories consumed or products sold are included in operating costs

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at historical cost Certain leases have been capitalized and the leased assets have been included in

property and equipment Additions of new equipment and major renewals and replacements of existing equipment are capitalized

Repairs and minor replacements that do not materially increase values or extend useful lives are expensed in the period in which they

are incurred Depreciation of property and equipment is provided on straight-line basis at rates based upon the expected useful lives

of the various classes of assets The expected useful lives of property and equipment are as follows buildings forty years

machinery and equipment five to ten years furniture and fixtures three to five years vehicles four to six years and other

property and equipment two to five years

Long-Lived Assets

Property Plant and Equipment

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
Accounting Standards Codification ASC 360 Property Plant and Equipment Under FASB ASC 360 the Company reviews

long-lived assets which consist of finite-lived intangible assets and property and equipment for impairment whenever events or

changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives

of these assets are no longer appropriate Factors that may affect recoverability include changes in planned use of equipment closing

of facilities and discontinuance of service lines Property and equipment to be held and used is reviewed at least annually for possible

impairment The Companys impairment review is based on an estimate of the undiscounted cash flow at the lowest level for which

identifiable cash flows exist Impairment occurs when the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash

flows generated by the asset and the impairment is viewed as other than temporary When impairment is indicated an impairment

charge is recorded for the difference between the carrying value of the asset and its fair market value Depending on the asset fair

market value may be determined either by use of discounted cash flow model or by reference to estimated selling values of assets in

similarcondition In 2011 an impairment of $0.9 million was recorded related to write down of certain assets in Germany based on

the Companys decision to discontinue providing certain services in that country No impairment of long-lived assets was recorded

during 2010 or 2009

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 350 Intangibles

Goodwill and Other Under FASB ASC 350 intangible assets with lives restricted by contractual legal or other means are amortized

over their useful lives Gross finite-lived intangible assets of $3.7 million and $1.3 million respectively were also included in

intangible and other assets at each of December 31 2011 and 2010 with accumulated amortization of $1.2 million and $0.5 million

respectively Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets totaled $0.7 million and $0.2 million for the
years

ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with the

provisions of FASB ASC 360

Goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of each

calendar year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired Examples of such

events or circumstances include significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate an adverse action or

assessment by regulator or loss of key personnel

FASB ASC 350 requires two-step process for testing goodwill impairment First the fair value of each reporting unit is compared to

its carrying value to determine whether an indication of impairment exists reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below

an operating segment referred to as component Two or more components of an operating segment shall be aggregated and deemed

single reporting unit if the components have similar economic characteristics The Company has three reporting units for the purpose

of testing goodwill impairment as the business segments are determined to be the reporting units Second if an impairment is

indicated the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill is determined by allocating the units fair value to its assets and

liabilities including any unrecognized intangible assets as if the reporting unit had been acquired in business combination The

amount of impairment for goodwill and other intangible assets is measured as the excess of the carrying value over the implied fair

value
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The Company uses market capitalization as the basis for its measurement of the Companys fair value as management considers this

approach the most meaningful measure considering the quoted market price as providing the best evidence of fair value In

performing the analysis the Company uses the stock price on December 31 of each
year as the valuation date The fair value is

allocated to the reporting units based on relative fair values considering factors including expected future discounted cash flows using

reasonable and appropriate assumptions about the underlying business activities of each reporting unit On December 31 2011 the

Companys fair value substantially exceeded its carrying value in each of its three reporting units

Based on valuations and market approach analysis performed by the Company at December 31 2011 and 2010 no impairment was

indicated As of December 31 2011 and 2010 goodwill totaled $14.6 million and $13.1 million respectively The increase in

goodwill was related to the SLM acquisition which increased goodwill in the Americas and APAC In the Americas goodwill totaled

$6.1 million and $4.9 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Goodwill in EMEA totaled $6.6 million at each of

December 31 2011 and 2010 and goodwill in Asia-Pacific totaled $1.9 million and $1.6 million at December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively At December 31 2011 and 2010 $3.0 million and $2.1 million respectively of indefinite-lived intangible assets

primarily tradenames were included in intangible and other assets on the consolidated balance sheets

As of December 2011 future amortization
expense

related to finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization is estimated to

be as follows in thousands

2011

Fiscal Year

2012 713

2013 705

2014 598

2015 424

2016 52

Thereafter 52

Total 2544

The weighted average amortization period for intangible assets subject to amortization is approximately 3.9 years

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recorded in accordance with FASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition when realized or realizable and earned

Revenues are recognized using the completed-contract method when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists services to

customers have been rendered or products have been delivered the selling price is fixed or determinable and collectability is

reasonably assured Revenues are recorded net of sales tax Substantially all projects are short term in nature however the Company

occasionally enters into contracts that are longer in duration that represent multiple element arrangements which include

combination of services and products The Company separates deliverables into units of accounting based on whether the deliverables

have standalone value to the customer The arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting based on each

units relative selling price generally determined using vendor specific objective evidence Revenues are recognized for the separate

units of accounting when services to customers have been rendered or products have been delivered and risk of ownership has passed

to the customer The Company provides limited warranties to customers depending upon the service performed Warranty claim costs

were not material during any of the years ended December 31 2011 2010 or 2009

Operating Costs

Operating costs include direct and indirect labor along with related fringe benefits materials freight travel engineering vehicles

equipment rental and restructuring charges and are expensed when the associated revenue is recognized or as incurred Direct costs

related to projects for which the earnings process have not been completed and therefore not qualifying for revenue recognition are

recorded as work-in-process inventory

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses include payroll and related fringe benefits marketing travel rent information

technology insurance professional fees and restructuring charges and are expensed as incurred
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Foreign Currency Translation

The Company translates the balance sheets of its foreign subsidiaries using year-end exchange rates and translates income statement

amounts using the
average exchange rates in effect during the year Gains and losses resulting from the change in exchange rates from

year to year are reported separately as component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss in stockholders equity Gains

and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statements of operations The Company has no

foreign subsidiaries subject to foreign exchange restrictions

Stock-Based Compensation

All stock-based compensation is recognized as an expense in the financial statements and such costs are measured at the fair value of

the award at the date of grant The fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant as determined by the Black-Scholes

model is affected by the Companys stock price on the date of the grant as well as other assumptions Assumptions utilized in the fair

value calculations include the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards estimated using the historical volatility of

the Companys stock price the risk free interest rate based on the U.S Treasury Note rate over the expected term of the option the

dividend yield assumed to be zero as the Company has not paid nor anticipates paying any cash dividends and employee stock

option exercise behavior and forfeiture assumptions based on historical experience and other relevant factors

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences between accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States U.S GAAP and tax treatment of certain income and expense items The Company must assess and make estimates

regarding the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered To the extent that it is determined the deferred tax assets will

not be recovered valuation allowance must be established for such assets In making such determination the Company must take

into account positive and negative evidence including projections of future taxable income and assessments of potential tax planning

strategies Prior to 2011 full valuation allowance on domestic federal certain state and foreign net deferred tax assets was

determined appropriate at December 31 2010 and 2009 At the end of 2011 based on the Companys assessment of future taxable

income it was determined that the net deferred tax assets in the United States are expected to be realized and accordingly the

valuation allowance on federal and state deferred tax assets has been reversed in the current period The net impact of this reversal and

related deferred tax changes resulted in deferred tax benefit of approximately $7.7 million was recognized in 2011

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be

sustained on examination by the applicable taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position The tax benefit recognized

is based on the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the

taxing authority Uncertain tax positions in certain foreign jurisdictions would not impact the effective foreign tax rate because

unrecognized non-current tax benefits are offset by the foreign net operating loss carryforwards which are fully reserved The

Company recognizes interest
expense on underpayments of income taxes and accrued penalties related to unrecognized non-current

tax benefits as part of the income tax provision

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Pension benefit costs and liabilities are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts The primary assumptions include

factors such as discount rates expected investment return on plan assets mortality rates and retirement rates These rates are renewed

annually and adjusted to reflect current conditions These rates are determined based on reference to yields The compensation
increase rate is based on historical experience The expected return on plan assets is derived from detailed periodic studies which

include review of asset allocation strategies anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes risks standard

deviations and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise the plans asset mix While the studies give appropriate

consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns the assumptions are primarily long-term prospective rates of return

Mortality and retirement rates are based on actual and anticipated plan experience In accordance with U.S GAAP actual results that

differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore generally affect recognized expense
and the recorded obligation in future periods While management believes that the assumptions used are appropriate differences in

actual experience or changes in assumptions may affect pension and postretirement obligation and future expense

Contingencies

Environmental

Liabilities are recorded when site restoration or environmental remediation and cleanup obligations are either known or considered

probable and can be reasonably estimated Recoveries of environmental costs through insurance indemnification arrangements or

other sources are recognized when such recoveries become certain

The Company capitalizes environmental costs only if the costs are recoverable and the costs extend the life increase the capacity or

improve the safety or efficiency of property owned by the Company as compared with the condition of that
property when originally

constructed or acquired or if the costs mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has yet to occur and that otherwise may
result from future operations or activities and the costs improve the property compared with its condition when constructed or

acquired All other environmental costs are expensed

F-li



Other

The Company establishes liability for all other loss contingencies when information indicates that it is probable that an asset has

been impaired or liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated

Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations

In the fourth quarter of 2009 and in the first half of 2010 the Company committed to cost reduction initiatives including planned

workforce reductions and restructuring of certain functions The Company has taken these specific actions in order to more

strategically align its operating selling general and administrative costs relative to revenues The Company has recorded expenses

related to these cost reduction initiatives for severance lease cancellations and other restructuring costs in accordance with FASB

ASC 420-10 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations and FASB ASC 712-10 Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits

Under FASB ASC 420-10 costs associated with restructuring activities are generally recognized when they are incurred In the case

of leases the expense is estimated and accrued when the property is vacated In addition post-employment benefits accrued for

workforce reductions related to restructuring activities are accounted for under FASB ASC 712-10 liability for post-employment

benefits is generally recorded when payment is probable the amount is reasonably estimable and the obligation relates to rights that

have vested or accumulated The Company continually evaluates the adequacy of the remaining liabilities under its restructuring

initiatives Although the Company believes that these estimates accurately reflect the costs of its restructuring plans actual results may

differ thereby requiring the Company to record additional provisions or reverse portion of such provisions

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Companys financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of

the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ

from those estimates The Companys significant estimates include revenue recognition allowance for doubtful accounts goodwill

intangible assets and long-lived assets stock-based compensation defined benefit pension plan income taxes restructuring accruals

and contingencies

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 20 11-04 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement

and Disclosure Requirements in U.S GAAP and IFRSs ASU 2011-04 ASU 2011-04 clarifies the requirements in U.S GAAP for

measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements ASU 2011-04 provides further clarification on the

application of the highest and best use and valuation premise concepts fair value measurement of an instrument classified in

reporting entitys shareholders equity and disclosure of unobservable inputs used in Level fair value measurements ASU 2011-

04 also changes how fair value is measured for financial instruments that are managed within portfolio and how premiums and

discounts are applied in measuring fair value In addition to the clarification of Level disclosures ASU 2011 -04 requires additional

disclosures for fair value measurements as it relates to the following the valuation process
and sensitivity of changes in

unobservable inputs reporting entitys use of nonfinancial asset in way that differs from the assets highest and best use and

the categorization by level of the fair value hierarchy for items that are not measured at fair value but for which the fair value is

required to be disclosed ASU 2011-04 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or after December 15 2011 The

Company does not expect material impact from the adoption of this guidance on the Companys consolidated financial statements

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-05 Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU 2011-05

ASU 2011-05 amends existing guidance by allowing only the following two options for presenting the components of net income and

other comprehensive income in single continuous financial statement or in two separate but consecutive financial statements

In addition items that are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income must be presented on the face of the financial

statements ASU 2011-05 does not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income when an item of other

comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income companys option to present components of other comprehensive income

either net of related tax effects or before related tax effects nor does it affect how eamings per share is calculated or presented ASU

2011-05 requires retrospective application and it is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after

December 15 2011 The Company anticipates the adoption of this guidance will change the presentation and provide additional detail

on certain consolidated financial statements but will not have material impact

In September 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment ASU 2011-08

ASU 20 11-08 gives company the option to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair

value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step

goodwill impairment test ASU 2011-08 allows company to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting unit in any period

and proceed directly to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test Using the qualitative assessment in ASU

2011-08 if company determines it is not more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount
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performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary If company determines it is more likely than not that the fair value of

reporting unit is less than its carrying amount it is required to perform step one of the two-step impairment test ASU 20 11-08 is

effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 The

Company does not expect this update to have material impact on the Companys financial statements

Acquisition

On February 23 2011 Furmanite Worldwide Inc FWI wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company entered into Stock

Purchase Agreement to acquire 100% of the outstanding stock of Self Leveling Machines Inc and subsidiary of FWI entered into an

Asset Purchase Agreement to acquire substantially all of the material operating and intangible assets of Self Levelling Machines Pty

Ltd collectively SLM for total consideration of $8.9 million net of cash acquired of $1.2 million of which approximately $4.7

million relates to the Americas and the balance relates to APAC SLM provides large scale on-site machining which includes

engineering fabrication and execution of highly-specialized machining solutions for large-scale equipment or operations

in connection with the SLM acquisition on February 23 2011 FWI entered into consent and waiver agreement under its credit

agreement See Note Long-Term Debt to these consolidated financial statements for additional information as it relates to the

credit agreement FWI funded the cost of the acquisition with $5.0 million in cash and by issuing notes payable the Notes to the

sellers equity holders for $5.1 million

The following amounts represent the final determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in thousands

Fair value of net assets acquired

Cash 1185

Accounts receivable 224

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 46

Property and equipment 5124
Goodwill 1476

Intangible and other assets 3785
Accrued

expenses
and other current liabilities 100

Deferred tax liabilities 1690
Fair value of net assets acquired 10050

Goodwill which relates to the Americas which includes operations in North America South America and Latin America consists of

intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition and is not deductible for tax purposes

Intangible assets are primarily comprised of trademarks patents and non-compete arrangements Other assets consist of acquired interests in

equity and cost method investments

The SLM acquisition was not material to the Companys financial position and results of operations therefore SLMs pro forma

results would not have material impact on the Companys results had the acquisition occurred at the beginning of the current or

previous year

Earnings Loss Per Share

Basic earnings loss per share EPS are calculated as net income loss divided by the weighted-average number of shares of

common stock outstanding during the period which includes restricted stock Restricted shares of the Companys common stock have

full voting rights and participate equally with common stock in dividends declared and undistributed earnings As participating

securities the restricted stock awards are included in the calculation of basic EPS using the two-class method Diluted earnings loss

per share assumes issuance of the net incremental shares from stock options when dilutive The weighted-average common shares

outstanding used to calculate diluted earnings loss per share reflect the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents including options

to purchase shares of common stock using the treasury stock method
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Basic and diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding and earnings loss per share include the following for the years

ended December 31 in thousands except per share data

2011 2010 2009

Net income loss 23970 9486 2830

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding

Dilutive effect of common stock equivalents
___________

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding

Earnings loss per share

Basic
0.65

Diluted 0.64

Stock options excluded from diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding because

their inclusion would have an anti-dilutive effect 423

Inventories net

Inventories consisted of the following at December 31 in thousands

Raw materials and supplies

Work-in-process

Finished goods

Excess and obsolete reserve

Total inventories

2011

21341

6801

113

1698

26557

2010

19159

6906

85

1784

24366

Amounts expensed for excess and obsolete inventory were not significant for the years ended December 31 2011 or 2009 For the

year
ended December 31 2010 the Company recognized expense of $0.7 million in operating costs for excess and obsolete inventory

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31 in thousands

Land

Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Furniture and fixtures

Vehicles

Construction in progress

Other

Total property and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Net property and equipment

2011

2170

5513

61090

7134

2596

645

3610

82758

48698

34060

2010

2043

4891

52024

7310

2669

1796

3236

73969

43249

30720

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment for the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $7.6

million $6.3 million and $6.0 million respectively
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Vehicles under capital leases are included in the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization as follows at December 31 in

thousands

2011 2010

Vehicle capital leases 1568 1585

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1496 1432
Net equipment acquired under capital leases 72 153

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at December 31 in thousands

2011 2010

Compensation and benefits 12120 15130

Estimated potential uninsured liability claims 1320 1886

Taxes other than income 1054 1052

Professional audit and legal fees 824 1088

Value added tax payable 766 1387

Customer deposits 443 615

Rent 435 327

Other employee related expenses 214 550

Interest 129 20

Other2 1871 2433

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities 19176 24488

Includes restructuring accruals of $0.3 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Includes restructuring accruals of $0.4 million and $0.5 million for the
years

ended December 2011 and 2010 respectively

Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2009 and in the first half of 2010 the Company committed to cost reduction initiatives including planned

workforce reductions and restructuring of certain functions The Company has taken these specific actions in order to more

strategically align the Companys operating selling general and administrative costs relative to revenues

2009 Cost Reduction Initiative

The Company has completed this cost reduction initiative which began in the fourth quarter of 2009 For the twelve months ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 restructuring costs incurred of $1.8 million and $1.1 million respectively are included in selling

general and administrative expenses For the twelve months ended December 31 2010 restructuring costs incurred of $0.5 million are

included in operating costs The total costs incurred related to this cost reduction initiative were approximately $3.4 million There

was minimal restructuring activity during the twelve months ended December 31 2011 related to this initiative

2010 Cost Reduction Initiative

In the second quarter of 2010 the Company committed to an additional cost reduction initiative primarily related to the restructuring

of certain functions within the Companys EMEA operations The Company has taken and continues to take specific actions in order

to improve the operational and administrative efficiency of its EMEA operations while providing structure which will allow for

future expansion of operations within the region For the twelve months ended December 31 2011 and 2010 restructuring costs

incurred of $0.2 million and $1.5 million respectively are included in operating costs For the twelve months ended December 31
2011 and 2010 restructuring costs incurred of $0.2 million and $1.9 million respectively are included in selling general and

administrative expenses The total restructuring costs estimated to be incurred in connection with this cost reduction initiative are $4.0

million As of December 31 2011 the costs incurred since inception of this cost reduction initiative totaled approximately $3.8

million with the remaining $0.2 million expected to relate primarily to severance and benefit and lease termination costs

In connection with these initiatives the Company has recorded estimated expenses for severance lease cancellations and other

restructuring costs in accordance with FASB ASC 420-10 Exii or Disposal Cost Obligations and FASB ASC 12-10
Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits
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2009 Initiative

Severance and benefit costs

Lease termination costs

Other restructuring costs

2010 Initiative

Severance and benefit costs

Lease termination costs

Other restructuring costs

Total

The activity related to reserves associated with the cost reduction initiatives for the
year

ended December 31 2010 is as follows in

thousands

2009 lnitiative

Severance and benefit costs

Lease termination costs

Other restructuring costs

2010 Initiative

Severance and benefit costs

Lease termination costs

Other restructuring costs

Total

Restructuring costs associated with the cost reduction initiatives for the
years

ended December 31 consisted of the following in

thousands

2011
__________________ __________________

Severance and benefit costs 291

Lease termination costs 11

Other restructuring costs 64

Total 366

Restructuring costs incurred in the following geographical areas for the years
ended December 31 are as follows in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Americas 442 406

EMEA 366 5271 642

Asia-Pacific
_____________

25

Total 366 5713 1073

Total workforce reductions in which severance costs were incurred related to the cost reduction initiatives included terminations for

171 employees which include reductions of 31 employees in the Americas 139 employees in EMEA and one employee in Asia-

Pacific

The activity related to reserves associated with the cost reduction initiatives for the year
ended December 31 2011 is as follows in

thousands

Reserve at

December 31 2010

Foreign

Charges Cash currency

Adjustments payments adjustments

Reserve at

December 31 2011

107 13 97
125 117

969 304 916
277 20 31

90 73 62

1577 366 1223 10

353

259

98

710

Reserve at

December 31 2009

Foreign

Cash currency

Charges payments adjustments

690

Reserve at

December 31 2010

1288 1850
590 469
470 460

21

2899 1948 18

279

187 97

107

125

969

277

90

690 5713 4824 1577

2010

4187

869

657

5713

2009

876

22

175

1073
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Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is summarized as follows at December 31 in thousands

2011 2010

Borrowings under the revolving credit facility the Credit Agreement 30000 30000

Capital leases 68 161

Notes payable the Notes 5095
_______________

Total long-term debt 35163 30161

Less current portion of long-term debt 4112 76

Total long-term debt non-current 31051 30085

On August 2009 certain foreign subsidiaries of FWI the designated borrowers and FWI entered into new credit agreement

dated July 31 2009 with banking syndicate comprising Bank of America N.A and Compass Bank the Credit Agreement The

Credit Agreement which matures on January 31 2013 provides revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million portion of the

amount available under the Credit Agreement not in excess of $20.0 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit In

addition portion of the amount available under the Credit Agreement not in excess of $5.0 million in the aggregate is available for

swing line loans to FWT The loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement may not exceed $35.0 million in the aggregate to the

foreign subsidiary designated borrowers

The proceeds from the initial borrowing on the Credit Agreement were $35.0 million and were used to repay the amounts outstanding

under the previous loan agreement which was scheduled to mature in January 2010 at which time the previous loan agreement was

terminated by the Company Letters of credit issued from the previous loan agreement were replaced with similar letters of credit by

the Credit Agreement There were no material circumstances surrounding the termination and no material early termination penalties

were incurred by FWI

At each of December 31 2011 and 2010 $30.0 million was outstanding under the Credit Agreement Borrowings under the Credit

Agreement bear interest at variable rates based on the prime rate federal funds rate or Eurocurrency rate at the option of the

borrower including margin above such rates and subject to an adjustment based on calculated funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA

ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement which was 2.3% both at December 31 2011 and 2010 The Credit Agreement contains

commitment fee which ranges between 0.25% to 0.30% based on the funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio and was 0.25% at both

December 31 2011 and 2010 based on the unused portion of the amount available under the Credit Agreement Adjusted EBITDA is

net income plus interest income taxes depreciation and amortization and other non-cash expenses minus income tax credits and non-

cash items increasing net income as defined in the Credit Agreement All obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by

FWI and certain of its subsidiaries under guaranty and collateral agreement and are secured by first priority lien on FWI and

certain of its subsidiaries assets which approximates $148.6 million of current assets and property and equipment as of December 31

2011 and is without recourse to the Parent Company The Credit Agreement includes requirements that the Company must maintain

funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of no more than 2.75 to 1.0 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter measured on trailing

four-quarters basis and ii fixed charge coverage ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement of at least 3.0 to 1.0 for the same

trailing four quarter period FWI is also subject to certain other compliance provisions including but not limited to maintaining

certain tangible asset concentration levels and capital expenditure limitations as well as restrictions

on indebtedness guarantees dividends and other contingent obligations and transactions Events of default under the Credit

Agreement include customary events such as change of control breach of covenants or breach of representations and warranties At

December 31 2011 FWI was in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement

Considering the outstanding borrowings of $30.0 million and $1.5 million related to outstanding letters of credit the unused

borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement was $18.5 million at December 31 2011 with limit of $5.0 million of this capacity

remaining for the foreign subsidiary designated borrowers

In connection with the acquisition of SLM on February 23 2011 FWI entered into consent and waiver agreement as it relates to the

Credit Agreement Pursuant to the consent and waiver agreement Bank of America N.A and Compass Bank consented to the SLM

acquisition and waived any default or event of default for certain debt covenants that would arise as result of the SLM acquisition

FWI funded the cost of the acquisition with $5.0 million in cash and by issuing the Notes to the sellers equity holders for $5.1 million

$2.9 million denominated in U.S dollar and $2.2 million denominated in Australian dollar payable in installments through

February 23 2013 All obligations under the Notes are secured by first priority lien on the assets acquired in the acquisition At

December 31 2011 $5.1 million was outstanding under the Notes The Notes bear interest at fixed rate of 2.5% per annum
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At December 31 2011 debt maturities on consolidated debt were as follows in thousands

2011

2012 4103

2013 30992

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Total long-term debt 35095

Capital leases 68

Total tong-term debt and capital lease 35163

Retirement Plans

The Company has defined contribution plan which covers substantially all eligible domestic employees and provides for varying

levels of employer matching Company contributions to this plan were $1.3 million $1.2 million and $1.8 million for 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively

Two of the Companys foreign subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans one plan covering certain of its U.K employees the

U.K Plan and the other covering certain of its Norwegian employees the Norwegian Plan As the Norwegian Plan represents

less than four percent of the Companys total pension plan liabilities and approximately two percent of total pension plan assets only

the schedules of net periodic pension cost benefit and changes in benefit obligation and plan assets include combined amounts from

the two plans while all other assumption detail and narrative information relates solely to the U.K Plan

Benefits for the U.K Plan are based on the average of the employees salary for the last three years
of employment Generally the

employee contributes 6.5% to 12.0% and the employer contributes up to 12.0% of pay Plan assets are primarily invested in unitized

pension funds managed by U.K registered fund managers The most recent valuation of the U.K Plan was performed as of

December 31 2011 Estimated annual defined benefit pension plan contributions are assumed to be consistent with the current

expected contribution level of $1.0 million

Pension benefit costs and liabilities are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts The primary assumptions include

factors such as discount rates expected investment return on plan assets mortality rates and retirement rates The discount rate

assumption used to determine end of year benefit obligations was 5.0% These rates are renewed annually and adjusted to reflect

current conditions These rates are determined appropriate based on reference to yields The compensation increase rate of 3.4% per

year is based on historical experience The expected return on plan assets of 5.3% for 2012 is derived from detailed periodic studies

which include review of asset allocation strategies anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes risks

standard deviations and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise the plans asset mix While the studies give

appropriate consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns the assumptions are primarily long-term prospective rates

of return Mortality and retirement rates are based on actual and anticipated plan experience In accordance with U.S GAAP actual

results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore generally affect recognized

expense and the recorded obligation in future periods While management believes that the assumptions used are appropriate

differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may affect pension and postretirement obligation and future expense

Net pension cost included the following components for the years ended December 31 in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Net periodic pension cost benefit

Service cost 886 835 673

Interest cost 3842 3672 3272

Expected return on plan assets 3744 3603 2993
Amortization of prior service cost 98 94 95
Amortization of net actuarial loss 652 1085 180

Net periodic pension cost benefit 1538 1895 1037

F-18



The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 are as follows

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

Inflation

2011 2010

5.0% 5.7%

3.4%

2.9% 3.5%

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December are as follows

Discount rate

Expected long-term return on plan assets

Rate of compensation increase

Inflation

2011 2010

5.7% 5.7%

6.3% 6.8/

4.0% 4.0%

3.5% 3.5%

The plan actuary determines the expected return on plan assets based on combination of expected yields on equity securities and

corporate bonds and considering historical returns

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the weighted average of expected returns on asset

investment categories as follows 5.3% overall 6.5% for equities and 3.4% for bonds

The following table sets forth the changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets for the years ended Iecember 31 in thousands

67165

886

3841

233

3553

2706
473

72499

58733

2800

1343

233

2707
277

60125

12374

17204

455

16749

68506

835

3672

232

671
3051
2358

67165

56148

6290

1100

232

3051
1986

58733

8432

13517

552

12965

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit

cost during the next fiscal year are $0.5 million for the defined pension plan

The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.K Plan was $64.4 million and $59.2 million at December 31 2011 and 2010

respectively The U.K Plan has had no new participants added since the plan was frozen in 1994

2011 2010

Projected benefit obligation

Beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Participants contributions

Actuarial loss gain

Benefits paid

Foreign currency translation adjustment and other

End of year

Fair value of plan assets

Beginning of year

Actual gain on plan assets

Employer contributions

Participants contributions

Benefits paid

Foreign currency translation adjustment

End of year

Excess projected obligation under over fair value of plan assets at end of year

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

Net actuarial loss

Prior service cost credit

Net amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
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At December 2011 expected future benefit payments which reflect expected future service are as follows for the years ended

December in thousands

2012 2785

2013 2866

2014 2950

2015 3035

2016 3124

2017-2021 13436

Total 28196

The following table summarizes the plan assets of the U.K Plan measured at fair value on recurring basis at least annually as of

December 31 201 in thousands

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs inputs

Asset Category Total Level Level Level

Cash 129 129

Equity securities

U.K equity 12011 12011

U.S equity index 2972 2972

European equity index 2928 2928

Pacific rim equity index 2411 2411

Japanese equity index 1664 1664

Emerging markets equity index 1429 1429

Diversified growth fund 10751 10751

Fixed income securities

Corporate bonds 11981 11981

U.K government fixed income securities 2418 2418

U.K government index-linked securities 9981 9981 _____________

Total 58675 129 27382 31164

The net asset value of the commingled equity and fixed income funds are determined by prices of the underlying securities less

the funds liabilities and then divided by the number of shares outstanding As the funds are not traded in active markets the

commingled funds are classified as Level or Level assets The net asset value is corroborated by observable market data

e.g purchase or sale activities for Level assets

This category includes investments in U.K companies and aims to achieve return that is consistent with the return of the FTSE

All-Share Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small U.S companies and aims to achieve return that is consistent

with the return of the FTSE All-World USA Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small European companies and aims to achieve return that is

consistent with the return of the FTSE All-World Developed Europe ex-U.K Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small companies across the Australian Hong Kong New Zealand

and Singapore markets and aims to achieve return that is consistent with the return of the FTSE-All-World Developed Asia

Pacific ex-Japan Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small Japanese companies and aims to achieve return that is

consistent with the return of the FTSE All-World Japan Index

This category includes investments in companies in the Emerging Markets to achieve return that is consistent with the return

of the IFC Investable Index ex-Malaysia

This category includes investments in diversified portfolio of equity bonds alternatives and cash markets and aims to achieve

return that is consistent with the return of the Libor GBP month 3% Index

This category includes investment grade corporate bonds denominated in sterling and aims to achieve return consistent with

the iBoxx Non-Gilts Over 15 Years Index This index consists of bonds with maturity period of 15
years or longer

This category includes investments in U.K government fixed income securities gilts that have maturity period of 25 years or

longer and aims to achieve return consistent with the FTSE UK Gilt Over 25 Years Index

This category includes investments in U.K government index-linked securities index-linked gilts that have maturity period

of years or longer and aims to achieve return consistent with the FTSE UK Gilts Index-Linked Over Years Index and the

FTSE UK Guts Index-Linked Over 25 Years Index
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The following table summarizes the plan assets of the U.K Plan measured at fair value on recurring basis at least aimually as of

December 31 2010 in thousands

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Asset Category Total Level Level Level

Cash 394 394

Equity securities

U.K equityb 15767 15767

U.S.equityindexc 5017 5017

European equity index 3934 3934

Pacific rimequity index 2416 2416

Japanese equity index 2241 2241

Emerging markets equity index 1777 1777

Fixed income securities

Corporate bonds 12330 12330

U.K government fixed income securities 7733 7733

U.K government index-linked securities 5933 5933

Total 57542 394 34450 2269

The net asset value of the commingled equity and fixed income funds are determined by prices of the underlying securities less

the funds liabilities and then divided by the number of shares outstanding As the funds are not traded in active markets the

commingled funds are classified as Level or Level assets The net asset value is corroborated by observable market data

e.g purchase or sale activities for Level assets

This category includes investments in U.K companies and aims to achieve return that is consistent with the return of the FTSE

All-Share Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small U.S companies and aims to achieve return that is consistent

with the return of the FTSE All-World USA Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small European companies and aims to achieve return that is

consistent with the return of the FTSE All-World Developed Europe ex-U.K Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small companies across the Australian Hong Kong New Zealand

and Singapore markets and aims to achieve return that is consistent with the return of the FTSE-All-World Developed Asia

Pacific ex-Japan Index

This category includes investments in variety of large and small Japanese companies and aims to achieve return that is

consistent with the return of the FTSE All-World Japan Index

This category includes investments in companies in the Emerging Markets to achieve return that is consistent with the return

of the IFC Investable Index ex-Malaysia

This category includes investment grade corporate bonds denominated in sterling and aims to achieve return consistent with

the iBoxx Non-Gilts Over 15 Years Index This index consists of bonds with maturity period of 15 years or longer

This category includes investments in U.K government fixed income securities gilts that have maturity period of 15 years or

longer and aims to achieve return consistent with the iBoxx Non-Gilts Over 15 Years Index

This category includes investments in U.K government index-linked securities index-linked guts that have maturity period

of years or longer and aims to achieve return consistent with the FTSE UK Gilts Index-Linked Over Years Index
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The following table sets forth summary of changes in the fair value of the Level assets for the year ended December 31 2011

Balance at December 31 2010 22698

Transfers in

Purchases 13073

Sales 2282
Unrealized gain loss 1981
Foreign currency adjustments 344

Balance at December 31 2011 31164

During the year ended December 31 2010 transfers from Level assets to Level assets were made due to changes in the

observability of inputs There were no transfers related to the Companys Level assets during the years ended December 31 2011 or

2009

Investment objectives for the U.K Plan as of December 31 2011 are to

optimize the long-term return on plan assets at an acceptable level of risk

maintain broad diversification across asset classes

maintain careful control of the risk level within each asset class

The trustees of the U.K Plan have established long-term investment strategy comprising global investment weightings targeted at

40% range of 37% to 43% for equity securities 40% range of 37% to 43% for debt securities and 20% range 17% to 25% for an

actively managed absolute return fund which holds combination of debt and equity securities Selection of the targeted asset

allocation was based upon review of the expected return and risk characteristics of each asset class as well as the correlation of

returns among asset classes Actual allocations to each asset class vary from target allocations due to periodic investment strategy

changes market value fluctuations and the timing of benefit payments and contributions

The following table sets forth the weighted average asset allocation and target asset allocations by asset category as of the

measurement dates of the plan

Asset Allocations Target Asset Allocations

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

Equity securities 58.2% 54.1% 40.0% 55.0%

Debt securities 1.6% 45.1% 40.0% 45.0%

Other 0.2% 0.8% 20.0% 0.0%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Allocated to an actively managed absolute return fund which holds combination of equity and debt securities

10 Stockholders Equity

The holders of shares of the Companys common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to vote

of common stockholders Each share of common stock is entitled to participate equally in dividends when and if declared and in the

distribution of assets in the event of liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company subject in all cases to any rights of

outstanding preferred stock

Series Preferred Stock

On April 15 2008 the Board of Directors of the Company declared dividend distribution of one stock purchase right Right for

each outstanding share of common stock to stockholders of record on April 19 2008 These Rights are substantially similar to and

were issued in replacement of the rights that expired on April 19 2008 pursuant to the Companys then existing Stockholders Rights

Plan Pursuant to the replacement Stockholders Rights Plan each Right entitles the holder upon the occurrence of certain events to

purchase from the Company one one-hundredth of share of Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock no par value at price of

$48 subject to adjustment The Rights will not become transferable from the common stock or become exercisable until person or

group either acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Companys common stock or commences tender or exchange offer

that would result in ownership of 20% or more whichever occurs earlier The Rights which expire on April 19 2018 are redeemable

in whole but not in part at the Companys option at any time for price of $0.01 per Right As of December 31 2011 and 2010 there

were 400000 Series Preferred Shares authorized and none were outstanding
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Stock Option Plans

The Company has stock option plans and agreements for officers directors and key employees which allow for the issuance of stock

options restricted stock awards restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights The options granted under these plans and

agreements generally vest over periods of up to five years
and expire between five to ten years

after the grant date All options were

granted at prices greater than or equal to the market price at the date of grant The stock option plan has 6100000 shares authorized

and 1713015 shares were available for additional issuance at December 31 2011

For the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 total compensation cost charged against income and included in selling

general and administrative expenses for stock-based compensation arrangements was $0.7 million $0.9 million and $0.6 million

respectively The expense for the twelve months ended December 2010 includes $0.2 million associated with accelerated vesting

of awards in connection with the retirement of the former Chairman and Chief Executive Office of the Company The total

unrecognized tax benefit related to stock options and restricted stock as of both December 31 2011 and 2010 was approximately $0.5

million The unrecognized tax benefit related to the disposition of stock options and vesting of restricted stock was approximately

$0.4 million $0.2 million and nil for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively As of December 31 2011 the

total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options was $2.2 million The total unrecognized compensation expense

related to stock options will be recognized over weighted-average period of 5.9 years

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model Black-Scholes as its method of valuation under FASB ASC 18-10

and single option award approach This fair value computation is then amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service

periods of the options which is generally the vesting period The fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant as

determined by the Black-Scholes model is affected by the Companys stock price on the date of the grant as well as other assumptions

Assumptions utilized in the fair value calculations include the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards estimated

using the historical volatility of the Companys stock price the risk free interest rate based on the U.S Treasury Note rate over the

expected term of the option the dividend yield assumed to be zero as the Company has not paid nor anticipates paying any cash

dividends and employee stock option exercise behavior and forfeiture assumptions based on historical experience and other relevant

factors

The weighted-average estimated value of employee stock options granted in 2011 2010 and 2009 were estimated using the Black

Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions

2011 2010 2009

Expected volatility
58.9% to 59.8% 58.0% to 64.9% 47.7% to 47.9%

Risk-free interest rate 1.4% to 2.7% 1.7% to 2.6% 2.0% to 2.2%

Expected dividends 0% 0% 0%

Expected term in years
6.5 5.0 to 6.5 4.0

The Company granted options to purchase 115000 555000 and 180000 shares of its common stock during 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively that generally vest annually over five years All options were granted at prices equal to the market price at the date of

grant The weighted average fair market value of options granted during 2011 2010 and 2009 was $3.95 $2.98 and $1.56 per option

respectively The maximum contractual term of the stock options is 10 years
The Company uses authorized but unissued shares of

common stock for stock option exercises pursuant to the Companys stock option plans and treasury stock for issuances outside of the

plan
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The changes in stock options outstanding for the Companys plan for the years 2011 2010 and 2009 were as follows

Options

Weighted- Aggregate

Average Intrinsic

Exercise Value

Shares Price 000s

Outstanding at January 2009 960783 4.25

Granted 180000 3.96

Exercised 40000 3.14

Forfeited 128500 5.48

Outstanding at December 31 2009 972283 4.08

Granted 555000 5.21

Exercised 188500 3.15

Forfeited or expired 30000 3.93

Outstanding at December 31 2010 1308783 4.68

Granted 115000 6.80

Exercised 279283 3.78

Forfeited or expired 116000 5.07

Outstanding at December 31 2011 1028500 5.12 1553

Exercisable at December 31 201 475400 4.62 976

The aggregate fair value of stock options exercised during the
years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.6 million $0.2

million and $42 thousand respectively The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the
years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.7 million $0.7 million and $27 thousand respectively

summary of the status of the Companys nonvested stock options for the year ended December 31 201 is as follows

Options

Nonvested at December 31 2010 740400
Granted 115000

Vested 186300
Forfeited 116000

Nonvested at December31 2011 553100

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31 201 2010 and 2009 was $0.3 million

$0.5 million and $40 thousand respectively The aggregate fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31
2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.5 million $0.5 million and $0.2 million respectively

At December 31 201 the range of option exercise prices number of options granted number of options exercisable and weighted

average
exercise price are as follows

Weighted-

Average

Grant-Date

Fair Value

3.11

3.95

3.05

3.36

3.26

Range of Exercise

Price

2.30 3.93

$4.16- $5.40

$6.11 -$11.88

Average Average

Outstanding Exercisable

Average Exercise Price per
Remaining Remaining

Options
Outstanding Exercisable Contractual Contractual

Outstanding Exercisable Options Options Life Years Life Years

283500 188000 3.05 2.67 4.8 3.7

438000 222400 4.88 5.00 4.9 3.0

307000 65000 7.38 8.93 8.3 5.5

1028500 475400 5.12 4.62 5.9 3.6
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Weighted-

Average

Shares Grant-Date

Units Fair Value

200000 6.15

7.33

8.00

7.46

5.86

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term

Year

1.8

At December 31 2010 the range of option exercise prices number of options granted number of options exercisable and weighted

average
exercise price are as follows

Average Average

Outstanding Exercisable

Average Exercise Price per Remaining Remaining

Range of Exercise
Options Outstanding Exercisable Contractual Contractual

Price Outstanding Exercisable Options Options Life Years Life Years

2.30 3.93 449283 306283 3.06 2.72 4.4 2.9

$4.16 5.40 629500 241100 4.81 4.97 5.7 2.7

$6.11- $11.88 230000 21000 7.50 11.88 8.9 3.0

1308783 568383 4.68 4.01 5.8 2.8

Cash received from option exercises under the stock option plans for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $0.3

million $0.6 million and $0.1 million respectively

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock awards and restricted stock units are issued under the Companys stock option plan restricted stock award is an

award of shares of the Companys common stock which have full voting rights but are restricted with regard to sale or transfer

Restricted stock awards are independent of stock option grants and are generally subject to forfeiture if service terminates prior to the

vesting of the restricted stock restricted stock unit is an award of units of the Companys common stock Restricted stock units are

generally subject to forfeiture if service and performance requirements are not met The Company expenses the cost of restricted

stock which is determined to be the fair value of the restricted stock at the date of grant on straight-line basis over the vesting

period For these purposes the fair value of the restricted stock is determined based on the closing price of the Companys common

stock on the grant date

During 2009 the Company granted 30000 shares of restricted stock awards to it directors at grant date fair value of $3.93 per share

that cliff vest at the end of three
years

and may not be sold until they cease to be director of the Company The fair value of the

restricted stock awards was determined based on the Companys closing stock price on the date of grant and totaled $0.1 million

During 2010 the Company granted 60000 shares of restricted stock awards to its directors at grant date fair value of $3.85 per share

that cliff vest at the end of three years and may not be sold until they cease to be director of the Company The fair value of the

restricted stock awards issued in 2010 was determined based on the Companys closing stock price on the date of grant and totaled

$0.2 million

During 2011 the Company granted 30000 shares of restricted stock awards to three of its directors at grant date fair value of $7.08

per share and 10000 shares of restricted stock to one of its directors at grant date fair value of $6.89 per share that cliff vest at the

end of three years and may not be sold until they cease to be director of the Company The Company also granted 95841 restricted

stock units at grant date fair value of $7.46 per
share that vest over eight years The fair value of the restricted stock issued in 2011

was determined based on the Companys closing stock price on the date of grant and totaled $1.0 million

summary of the status of the Companys nonvested restricted stock for the year
ended December 31 2011 is as follows

Restricted Stock
_______________ ________________ ________________

Nonvested at December 31 2010

Granted 135841

Vested 110000

Forfeited 13404

NonvestedatDecember3l2011 212437 6.0

At December 31 2011 total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock of approximately $0.9 million

is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average period of 6.0 years The aggregate fair value of restricted stock vested during

the periods ended December 31 2011 and 2010 was $0.9 million and $0.3 million respectively
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11 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets includes the following at December 31
in thousands

2011 2010

Net actuarial loss and prior service credit 16749 12965
Less deferred tax benefit 4225 3538

Net of tax 12524 9427
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1024

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss 12522 8403

12 Income Taxes

Income before income tax expense is comprised of the following components for the years ended December 31 in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Domestic operations 12156 7928 6709
Foreign operations 7152 5338 7298

Income before income taxes 19308 13266 589

Income tax expense benefit is comprised of the following components for the years ended December 31 in thousands

Federal Foreign State Total

2011

Current 160 3660 860 4680
Deferred 8874 161 307 9342

Total income tax expense benefit 8714 3499 553 4662

2010

Current 155 2844 495 3494
Deferred 255 31 286

Total income tax expense 155 3099 526 3780

2009

Current 3460 186 3646
Deferred 227 227

Total income tax expense 3233 186 3419

The differences between the amount of tax expense provided and the amount of tax expense computed by applying the statutory

federal income tax rate to income before income taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Expected tax expense at the statutory federal rate of 35% 6758 4643 206

increase decrease in taxes resulting from

Change in valuation allowance 14026 699 3119
State income taxes net 1022 526 186

Foreign tax rate differences 415 1047 822
Non-deductible expenses 131 232 322

Stock-based compensation and other 1038 125 408

Total income tax expense benefit 4662 3780 3419

Income tax expense differs from the expected tax at statutory rates due primarily to the change in valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets and different tax rates in the various state and foreign jurisdictions Additionally the aggregate tax expense is not always

consistent when comparing periods due to the change in mix of income before income taxes between domestic and foreign operations
and within the foreign operations

At December 31 2011 the Company had available domestic federal tax net operating loss carryforwards NOLs of $19.6 million

which will expire if unused as follows $11.6 million in 2025 $4.0 million in 2026 and $4.0 million in 2029 The utilization of these

NOLs could be subject to significant limitation in the event of change in ownership as defined in the Internal Revenue Code
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which might be caused by purchases or sales of the Companys securities by persons or groups now or in the future having 5% or

greater ownership of the Companys common stock

Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences between the U.S GAAP and tax treatment of certain income and

expense items The Company must assess and make estimates regarding the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered

To the extent that it is determined the deferred tax assets will not be recovered valuation allowance must be established for such

assets In making such determination the Company must take into account positive and negative evidence including projections of

future taxable income and assessments of potential tax planning strategies At December 31 2011 and 2010 the Companys valuation

allowance was $6.0 million and $20.0 million respectively At the end of 2011 based on the Companys assessment of future taxable

income it was determined that the net deferred tax asset in the United States are expected to be realized and accordingly the valuation

allowance on federal and state deferred tax assets has been reversed in the current period This reversal of the valuation allowance net

of the utilization of domestic net operating losses and other related deferred tax changes of approximately $6.3 million during the year

resulted in deferred tax benefit of approximately $7.7 million which was recognized in 2011 The net deferred tax assets at

December 31 2011 relate to U.S federal and state and foreign tax items The net deferred tax as sets at December 31 2010 relate to

certain domestic state and foreign tax items

The Company recognizes the income tax benefit associated with certain stock compensation deductions when such deductions

produce reduction in the Companys current tax liability Accordingly the Company did not recognize the benefit of the tax

deductions upon the exercise of stock options or vesting of restricted stock in any of the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 or

2009 The benefit will be recorded in future periods when the Company realizes the income tax benefit with an offset to income taxes

payable

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at

December 31 are as follows in thousands

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Federal net operating loss carryforwards
5535 9080

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 3046 2942

State net operating loss carryforwards
731 778

Accrued expenses
2812 3486

Foreign subsidiaries primarily NOLs pension and accrued expenses
10229 8933

Other
831 666

Total gross
deferred tax assets 23184 25885

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment and other long-term assets 4784 2315

Foreign deferred tax liabilities primarily property and equipment 332 236

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 18068 23334

Less valuation allowance 5954 19980

Net deferred tax asset 12114 3354

Current net deferred tax assets of $6.9 million and $0.5 million and long-term net deferred tax assets of $5.6 million and $2.9 million

were recorded at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Long-term deferred tax liability of $0.4 million was recorded at

December 31 2011 In 2011 and 2010 deferred tax benefit of $0.7 million and deferred tax expense
of $1.5 million respectively

related to changes in pension net actuarial loss and prior service credit were recorded in other comprehensive income

reconciliation of the change in the unrecognized tax benefits for the years December 31 is as follows in thousands

2011 2010 2009

Balance atbegiiming of year
803 1007 974

Additions based on tax positions
447 256 210

Reductions due to lapses of statutes of limitations 197 460 177

Balance at end of year
1053 803 1007

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 of $1.1 million $0.8 million and $1.0 million respectively for

uncertain tax positions related primarily to transfer pricing are included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and

would impact the effective tax rate for certain foreign jurisdictions if recognized The Company incurred no significant interest or

penalties for any of the years ended December 31 20112010 or 2009

F-27



The Company and its subsidiaries file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the United States as well as various

foreign jurisdictions The Companys U.S federal income tax returns for 2007 and subsequent years remain subject to examination

Additionally NOLs originating in years prior to 2007 could be subject to examination to the extent of the loss carryforwards All

material foreign income tax matters have been concluded for years through 2005 Undistributed earnings of the Companys foreign

subsidiaries are considered to be permanently reinvested and accordingly no provision for U.S federal or state income taxes has been

provided thereon

13 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases vehicles office space office equipment and other items of personal property under leases expiring at various

dates Management expects that in the normal course of business leases that expire will be renewed or replaced by other leases Total

rent
expense

incurred under operating leases including short-term leases was $18.9 million $14.3 million and $12.9 million for the

years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

The Company has contracts with two suppliers which include minimum purchase requirements to keep the contracts in effect The

aggregate minimum requirements over the next three years under the two contracts total $8.0 million

At December 31 2011 future minimum rental commitments under all capital leases classified as long-term debt and operating leases

are as follows in thousands

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

2012 27 6108
2013 22 4035
2014 15 2468
2015 1851
2016 1297

Thereafter
_________

3339

Total minimum lease payments 73 19098

Less amounts representing interest

Present value of future minimum lease payments 68

The operations of the Company are subject to federal state and local laws and regulations in the U.S and various foreign locations

relating to protection of the environment Although the Company believes its operations are in compliance with applicable

environmental regulations there can be no assurance that costs and liabilities will not be incurred by the Company Moreover it is

possible that other developments such as increasingly stringent environmental laws regulations and enforcement policies thereunder

and claims for damages to property or persons resulting from operations of the Company could result in costs and liabilities to the

Company The Company has recorded in other liabilities an undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities related to the

remediation of site contamination for properties in the U.S in the amount of $1.0 million and $1.2 million as of December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively While there is reasonable possibility due to the inherent nature of environmental liabilities that loss

exceeding amounts already recognized could occur the Company does not believe such amounts are material to its financial

statements

On September 19 2011 John Daugherty filed derivative shareholder petition in the County Court at Law No Dallas County

Texas on behalf of the Company against certain of the Companys directors and executive officers and naming the Company as

nominal party The petition alleges the named directors and officers breached their fiduciary responsibilities in regard to certain

internal control matters The petitioner requests that the defendants pay unspecified damages to the Company On October 31 2011
the defendants filed their answer in the lawsuit as well as motions to dismiss it The defendants have informed the Company that they

believe this lawsuit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit

Furmanite America Inc subsidiary of the Company is involved in disputes with customer INEOS USA LLC who is negotiating

with governmental regulatory agency and claims that the subsidiary failed to provide them with satisfactory services at the

customers facilities On April 17 2009 the customer initiated legal action against the subsidiary in the Common Pleas Court of Allen

County Ohio alleging that the subsidiary and one of its former employees who performed data services at one of the customers

facilities breached its contract with the customer and failed to provide the customer with adequate and timely information to support

the subsidiarys work at the customers facility from 1998 through the second quarter of 2005 The customers complaint seeks

damages in an amount that the subsidiary believes represents the total proposed civil penalty plus the cost of unspecified

supplemental environmental projects requested by the regulatory agency to reduce air emissions at the customers facility and also

seeks unspecified punitive damages The subsidiary believes that it provided the customer with adequate and timely information to

support the subsidiarys work at the customers facilities and will vigorously defend against the customers claim
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In the first quarter of 2008 subsidiary of the Company filed an action seeking to vacate $1.35 million arbitration award related to

sales brokerage agreement associated with business that the subsidiary sold in 2005 The subsidiary believed that the sales broker

was an affiliate of another company that in 2006 settled all of its claims as well as all of the claims of its affiliates against the

subsidiary The action to vacate the arbitration award terminated and in January 2010 the subsidiary paid the full amount of the

arbitration award plus accrued interest to the sales broker which was accrued as of December 31 2009 In separate actions the

subsidiary was seeking to enforce the prior settlement agreement executed by the sales brokers affiliate and obtain an equitable offset

of the arbitration award however upon mutual agreement by all parties these separate actions were dismissed by the court in July

2010

The Company has contingent liabilities resulting from litigation claims and commitments incident to the ordinary course of business

Management believes after consulting with counsel that the ultimate resolution of such contingencies will not have material adverse

effect on the financial position results of operations or liquidity of the Company

While the Company cannot make an assessment of the eventual outcome of all of these matters or determine the extent if any of any

potential uninsured liability or damage reserves of $1.3 million and $1.9 million which include the Furmanite America Inc

litigation were recorded in accrued expenses
and other current liabilities as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively While there

is reasonable possibility that loss exceeding amounts already recognized could occur the Company does not believe such amounts

are material to its financial statements

14 Business Segment Data and Geographical Information

An operating segment is defined as component of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is

evaluated regularly by the chief decision maker or decision-making group in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing

performance During the third quarter of 2011 the Company expanded the number of segments as result of enhancements in the

level of financial information provided to its chief operating decision maker The prior period information conforms to the current year

presentation For financial reporting purposes the Company operates in three segments which comprise the Companys three

geographical areas the Americas which includes operations in North America South America and Latin America EMEA which

include operations Europe the Middle East and Africa and Asia-Pacific

The Company provides specialized technical services to an international client base that includes petroleum refineries chemical

plants pipelines offshore drilling and production platforms steel mills food and beverage processing facilities power generation and

other flow-process industries

The Company evaluates performance based on the operating income loss from each segment which excludes interest income and

other income expense interest expense and income tax expense benefit The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the

same as those described in Note Intersegment revenues are recorded at cost plus profit margin All transactions and balances

between segments are eliminated in consolidation
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The following is summary of the financial information of the Companys reportable segments as of and for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 reconciled to the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements in thousands

Reconciling

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Items Total

Year ended December 31 2011

Revenues from external customers 158515 118649 39043 316207

Intersegment revenues 3130 5792 1340 10262
Operating income loss 19717 8995 5404 13665 20451

Depreciation and amortization 4582 2011 1638 8231

Income tax expense benefit 7617 2270 685 4662
Total assets 114855 67538 24839 207232

Capital expenditures 3960 1544 946 6450

Year ended December 31 2010

Revenues from external customers 135174 109373 41406 285953

Intersegment revenues 2947 7783 243 10973
Operating income loss 16208 1970 10891 15409 13660

Depreciation and amortization 3450 1885 1155 6490
Income tax expense benefit 947 1641 1192 3780
Total assets 93740 65494 22867 182101

Capital expenditures 3956 2679 677 7312

Year ended December 31 2009

Revenues from external customers 121642 119211 35087 275940

Intersegment revenues 4050 4576 82 8708
Operating income loss 36 3404 4899 6845 13614 1534

Depreciation and amortization 3278 1661 1056 5995

Income tax expense benefit 200 2268 951 3419
Total assets 86377 67916 20696 174989

Capital expenditures 2723 2437 1381 6541

Included in the Americas are domestic revenues of$151.1 million $132.7 million and $121.0 million for the years ended December 31 2011
2010 and 2009 respectively

Reconciling Items represent eliminations or reversals of transactions between reportable segments

Reconciling Items represent certain corporate overhead costs including executive management strategic planning treasury legal human

resources information technology accounting and risk management which are not allocated to reportable segments

Included in the Americas are domestic total assets of $112.2 million $91.4 million and $86.1 million for the years ended December 31 2011
2010 and 2009 respectively

Goodwill in the Americas at December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 totaled $6.1 million $4.9 million and $4.9 million respectively Goodwill in

EMEA totaled $6.6 million at each of December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 Goodwill in Asia-Pacific totaled $1.9 million at December 31
2011 and $1.6 million at each of December 31 2010 and 2009

Includes restructuring charges of $0.4 million $5.7 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively

Included in the EMEA geographical area for the
years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 are U.K revenues from external

customers of $58.7 million $46.5 million and $51.0 million respectively and U.K operating income of $10.2 million $6.2 million

and $6.1 million respectively
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The following geographical area information includes total long-lived assets which consist of all non-current assets other than

goodwill indefinite-lived intangible assets and deferred tax assets based on physical location at December 31 in thousands

2011 2010

Americas 21661 17311

EMEA 11114 12092

Asia-Pacific 5500 3493

Total long-lived assets 38275 32896

Included in the Americas geographical area were domestic property and equipment net of $19.4 million and $15.4 million at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively Included in the EMEA geographical area at December 31 2011 and 2010 were U.K

property and equipment net of $4.7 million and $4.6 million respectively

Considering the Companys global nature and its exposure to foreign currencies the financial results in any geographical area can be

impacted by changes in currency exchange rates in any given year In 2011 the financial results were favorably impacted in Asia

Pacific EMEA and the Americas as result of currency exchange rate changes during the year In 2010 the financial results were

favorably impacted in Asia Pacific but were partially offset by unfavorable impacts in EMEA as result of currency exchange rate

changes during the year In 2009 the financial results were favorably impacted in EMEA and Australia but were substantially offset

by an unfavorable impact in the Americas

15 Significant Customers

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the consolidated revenues during any of the past three fiscal years

16 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Credit Risk

Fair value is defined under FASB ASC 820-10 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures as the exchange price that would be

received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability

in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under

FASB ASC 820-10 must maximize the use of the observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs The standard

established fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs of which the first two are considered observable and the last

unobservable

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities These are typically obtained from real-time

quotes for transactions in active exchange markets involving identical assets

Level Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets quoted prices included for identical or similar

assets and liabilities that are not active and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value

drivers are observable in active markets These are typically obtained from readily-available pricing sources for

comparable instruments

Level Unobservable inputs where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability These inputs reflect the

reporting entitys own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability based on the best information available in the circumstances

The Company currently does not have any assets or liabilities that would require valuation under FASB ASC 820-10 except for

pension assets which is separately described in Note The Company does not have any derivatives or marketable securities

The estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their

carrying amounts due to the relatively short period to maturity of these instruments The estimated fair value of all debt as of

December 31 2011 and 2010 approximated the carrying value These fair values were estimated based on the Companys current

incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements when quoted market prices were not available The

estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realized in current market exchange

The Company provides services to an international client base that includes petroleum refineries chemical plants offshore energy

production platforms steel mills nuclear power stations conventional power stations pulp and paper mills food and beverage

processing plants and other flow process
facilities The Company does not believe that it has significant concentration of credit risk

at December 31 2011 as the Companys accounts receivable are generated from these business industries with customers located

throughout the Americas EMEA and Asia-Pacific
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17 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Quarterly operating results for 2011 and 2010 are summarized as follows in thousands except per share data

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2011

Revenues 73054 83009 78330 81814

Operating income 3825 6607 5522 4497
Net income234 4026 5146 3582 11216

Earnings per common share

Basic 0.11 0.14 0.10 0.30

Diluted 0.11 0.14 0.10 0.30

2010

Revenues 66435 77513 66935 75070

Operating income 461 5526 2706 4967
Net income6 391 3560 1811 3724

Earnings per common share

Basic 0.01 0.10 0.05 0.10

Diluted 0.01 0.10 0.05 0.10

Operating income for the quarters ended in 2011 includes restructuring charges of $0.1 million $0.2 million $0.02 million and $0.1 million

respectively

Net income for the quarters ended in 2011 includes restructuring charges net of tax of $0.1 million $0.1 million $0.01 million and $0.1

million respectively

Operating income and net income for the quarter ended December 31 2011 include an impairment charge of $0.9 million related to write

down of certain assets in Germany

Net income for the quarter ended December 31 2011 includes $7.7 million income tax benefit related to the reversal of the valuation

allowance on deferred tax assets in the United States

Operating income for the quarters ended in 2010 includes restructuring charges of $1.8 million $0.9 million $2.0 million and $1.0 million

respectively

Net income for the quarters ended in 2010 includes restructuring charges net of tax of $1.5 million $0.8 million $1.9 million and $1.0

million respectively

18 Subsequent Events

On March 2012 certain foreign subsidiaries of FWI the designated borrowers and FWI entered into new credit agreement

dated March 2012 with banking syndicate led by JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A as Administrative Agent the new Credit

Agreement The new Credit Agreement which matures on February 28 2017 provides revolving credit facility of up to $75.0

million portion of the amount available under the new Credit Agreement not in excess of $20.0 million is available for the

issuance of letters of credit In addition portion of the amount available under the new Credit Agreement not in excess of $7.5

million in the aggregate is available for swing line loans to FWI The loans outstanding under the new Credit Agreement may not

exceed $50.0 million in the aggregate to the foreign subsidiary designated borrowers

The proceeds from the initial borrowing on the new Credit Agreement were $30.0 million and were used to repay the amounts

outstanding under the previous loan agreement which was scheduled to mature in January 2013 at which time the previous loan

agreement was terminated by the Company Letters of credit issued from the previous loan agreement were replaced with similar

letters of credit by the new Credit Agreement There were no material circumstances surrounding the termination and no material early

termination penalties were incurred by FWI

Borrowings under the new Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates based on the prime rate federal funds rate or

Eurocurrency rate at the option of the borrower including margin above such rates and subject to an adjustment based on

calculated Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio as defined in the new Credit Agreement The new Credit Agreement contains

commitment fee which ranges from 0.25% to 0.30% based on the Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio EBITDA is net income plus

interest income taxes depreciation and amortization and other non-cash expenses minus income tax credits and non-cash items

increasing net income as defined in the new Credit Agreement All obligations under the new Credit Agreement are guaranteed by

FWI and certain of its subsidiaries under guaranty and collateral agreement and are secured by first priority lien on FWI and

certain of its subsidiaries assets The Parent Company has granted security interest in its stock of FWI as collateral security for the

Lenders but is not party to the new Credit Agreement

F-32



The new Credit Agreement includes financial covenants which require that the Company maintain Funded Debt to EBITDA

ratio of no more than 2.75 to 1.00 as of the last day of each fiscal quarter measured on trailing four-quarters basis ii fixed charge

coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00 defined as EBITDA minus capital expenditures interest plus cash taxes plus scheduled

payments of debt plus Restricted Payments made i.e all dividends distributions and other payments in respect of capital stock

sinking funds or similar deposits on account thereof or other returns of capital redemption or repurchases of equity interests and any

payments to Parent or its subsidiaries other than FWI and its Subsidiaries and iii minimum asset coverage
of at least 1.50 to

1.00 defined as cash plus net accounts receivable plus net inventory plus net property plant and equipment of FWI and its Material

Subsidiaries that are subject to first priority perfected lien in favor of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders Funded Debt

FWI is also subject to certain other compliance provisions including but not limited to restrictions on indebtedness guarantees

dividends and other contingent obligations and transactions Events of default under the new Credit Agreement include customary

events such as change of control breach of covenants or breach of representations and warranties
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

FURMANITE CORPORATION

By Is JOSEPH MILLIRON

JOSEPH MILLIRON
Chief Operating Officer and President

Date March 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and as of the date indicated

Signature Title Date

Is CHARLES COX Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 2012

CHARLES COX Principal Executive Officer

1sf ROBERT MUFF Chief Accounting Officer Principal March 2012

ROBERT MUFF Financial and Accounting Officer

Is SANGWOO AHN Director March 2012

SANGWOO AHN

/s KEVIN JOST Director March 2012

KEVIN JOST

1sf HANS KESSLER Director March 2012

HANS KESSLER

s/ RALPH PATITUCCI Director March 2012

RALPH PATITUCCI

F-34



Exhibit 21.1

FURMANITE CORPORATION SUBSIDIARY LIST

FURMANITE CORPORATION

Furmanite Germany Inc

Management Services Furmanite Holding GmbH

Furmanite Technische Dienstleistungen GmbH
Furmanite Industries Service GmbH

Xtria LLC

Kaneb Financial Corporation

Furmanite Equipment Leasing Company LLC
Furmanite Worldwide Inc

Furmanite America Inc

Furmanite US GSG LLC

Furmanite Canada Corp

Furmanite International Finance Limited

Furmanite Offshore Services Inc

Furmanite Aruba N.y
Self Leveling Machines Inc

Advance Integrity Solutions Inc

Furmanite SAS

Furmanite Holding BV
Furmanite Mechanical Technology Services Shanghai Co Ltd

Furmanite GSG BV

Metaholding BV
Metalock BV

Furmanite BV
Furmanite Limited

Furmatec Limited

Furmanite 1986

Furmanite International Ltd

IPSCO International Limited

Furmanite Middle East SPC

Furmanite West Africa Limited

Furmanite GSG Limited

Furmanite Holding AS

Furmanite AS Norway
CMS Corrosion Monitoring Services AS

Furmanite AB
Furmanite A/S

Furmanite GSG BV
Furmanite BVBA
Furmanite Singapore PTE Ltd

Furmanite Malaysia LLC

Specialty Industrial Services Sdn Bhd

Furmanite Malaysia Sdn Bhd
Furmanite Australia Pty Ltd

Furmanite NZ Limited

Xanser Investment

Xanser Services LLC merged with Xanser Financial July 2009

as of March 2012



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated March 2012 with respect to the consolidated financial statements and internal control over

financial reporting included in the Annual Report of Furmanite Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 We

hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Furmanite Corporation on Form S-8

File Nos 333-159632 effective June 2009 333-159630 effective June 2009 333-101996 effective December 19 2002 333-

87446 effective May 2002 333-83968 effective March 2002 333-68558 effective August 28 2001 333-60195 effective

July 30 1998 333-22109 effective February 20 1997 333-14071 effective October 15 1996 333-14067 effective October 15

1996 333-150127 effective April 72008 33-54027 effective June 1994 and 33-41295 effective June 19 1991

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas Texas

March 2012



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTiON 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Charles Cox certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Furmanite Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact

necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading

with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and lSd-15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under

our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is

made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting

and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is CHARLES COX
Charles Cox

Chief Executive Officer

Date March 2012



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Robert Muff certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Furmanite Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material fact

necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading

with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d-l5e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-l5f and 15d-l5f for the registrant and have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under

our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is

made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting

and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Is ROBERT MUFF

Robert Muff

Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Date March 2012



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906A OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned being the Chief Executive Officer of Furmanite Corporation the Company hereby certifies that to his

knowledge the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 filed with the United States

Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78m or

780d fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information

contained in such Annual Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company

Is CHARLES COX
Charles Cox

Chief Executive Officer

This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form 10-K signed

original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request

Date March 2012



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906A OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned being the Principal Financial Officer of Furmanite Corporation the Company hereby certifies that to his

knowledge the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 filed with the United States

Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78m or

78od fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information

contained in such Annual Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company

Is ROBERT MUFF

Robert Muff

Chief Accounting Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form 10-K signed

original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and

furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request

Date March 2012
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CEO CERTIFICATION HAS BEEN SUBMITTED

On January27 2012 Mr Hans Kessler informed the Board of Directors ofFurmanite Corporation of his desire to retire and

not stand for re-election as director of the company at the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders Mi Kessler has been

director since 1998 and will continue to serve until the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders We appreciate his service and

wish him the best

The following comparison of Furmanite

Corporation to the other indices assumes

that $100 was invested on December

31 2006 in the company stock and the

indices and is based on quoted prices

at the end of each of the subsequent

five years The year-end quoted price

of Furmanite common stock for 2006

to 2011 was $4.86 $1 1.80 $5.39

$3.81 $6.91 and $6.31 respectively

There was an unusually significant

increase in Furmanite trading volume

and stock price late in 2007 resulting

in much greater difference between

the Furmanite common stock return in

comparison to the market and technical

services group indices where groups
of stocks generally do not fluctuate as

extensively as single stock

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
among Furmanite Corporation the NYSE Composite Index

and Technical Services Group Index
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